ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

AGRARIA 336



Broadening of Mildew Resistance in Wheat

Per-Olov Forsström

SWEDISH UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES

Broadening of Mildew Resistance in Wheat

Per-Olov Forsström

Department of Crop Science Alnarp, Sweden

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2002

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Agraria 336

ISSN 1401-6249 ISBN 91-576-6182-0 © 2002 Per-Olov Forsström, Alnarp

Abstract

Forsström, P. O. *Broadening of Mildew Resistance in Wheat* Doctor's Dissertation ISSN 1401-6249, ISBN 91-576-6182-0

Powdery mildew (*Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *tritici*) is a prevalent foliar disease in maritime and semicontinental climates and occurs wherever wheat is grown. The pathogen is an obligate fungus that seldom kills its host and winters at the asexual stage. Mildew-resistant lines was selected from a broad material derived from crosses between mildew-susceptible bread wheats and mildew-resistant: (1) triticale, (2) a double disomic wheat-rye substitution line, and (3) a wheat-*Leymus mollis* amphidiploid (containing 12 chromosomes from *L. mollis*). Mildew tests were conducted on later generations (BC₁F₄ or F₅) in order to increase the isolation of resistant lines under homozygous conditions. The choice of parents influenced the results and a large-sized population was a prerequisite in order to succeed in exploiting the full potential of these interspecific crosses.

A combined approach of a mildew test and cytogenetics was used to obtain lines with transferred rye chromatin from a double disomic wheat-rye substitution line. The material showed a fairly high rate of translocations derived from misdivision and centric fusions, *i.e.* lines that are suitable for plant breeding. The most prominent result was the isolation of a Robertsonian translocation, 2BS.2RL.

Molecular cytogenetics was used to characterise mildew-resistant lines that contained the rye chromosomes 1R + 2R, 1R + 4R, 1R + 6R, 1R and an inversion of 1R, all derived from triticale x wheat crosses. C-banding was used to identify the aberrant chromosome 1R and molecular cytogenetics was required to describe the chromosome as a pericentric inversion. The inverted 1R was characterised with five different repetitive probes using FISH and the breakpoints were localised between (1) the 5S rDNA and the NOR region on the satellite of the short arm, and (2) between two ACC₍₅₎ sites close to the centromere of the long arm.

We developed a strategy for converting a wheat RFLP-based assay into a PCRbased sequence-tagged site (STS). Two RFLP-loci located on 2L were chosen and STS markers were obtained for the three wheat genomes A, B, D and the rye genome R. The PCR markers can be used for marker-assisted selection (MAS) in the selection of mildew-resistant translocation 2BS.2RL.

Key words: wheat, rye, triticale, wheat-rye hybrids, wheat-rye introgressions, chromosomal substitution, pericentric inversion, *Leymus mollis* hybrids, powdery mildew (*Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *tritici*), resistance breeding, C-banding, molecular cytogenetics, physical chromosome mapping, GISH, FISH, molecular markers, RFLP, SSCP, STS, MAS

Author's address: Per-Olov Forsström, Department of Crop Science, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SE-230 53 Alnarp, Sweden, E-mail: Per-Olov.Forsstrom@vv.slu.se

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	3
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
APPENDICES	5
PAPERS I-IV	5
ABBREVIATIONS	6
INTRODUCTION	7
THE EVOLUTIONARY HISTORY OF WHEAT TAXONOMY THE GENE POOL. POWDERY MILDEW. PLANT DEFENCE. Gene-for-Gene Interaction Vertical versus Horizontal Resistance. Race-Specific Resistance Race-Nonspecific Resistance General Perspectives of Resistance. WIDE HYBRIDISATION.	7 10 13 15 17 17 18 20 23 24 25
AIMS AND DESIGN OF THIS STUDY	27
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	30
ISOLATION OF ALIEN GERMPLASM (PAPER I) CHARACTERISATION OF ALIEN GERMPLASM (PAPER II) CHROMOSOME PAINTING OF ALIEN GERMPLASM (PAPER III) DEVELOPMENT OF PCR MARKERS (PAPER IV)	30 33 34 37
CONCLUSIONS	42
REFERENCES	44
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	53

Appendices

Papers I-IV

This doctoral thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals.

- I. Forsström PO and Merker Λ (2001) Sources of wheat powdery mildew resistance from wheat-rye and wheat-*Leymus* hybrids. *Hereditas* 134:115-119
- II. Merker A and Forsström PO (2000) Isolation of mildew resistant wheat-rye translocation lines from a double substitution line. *Euphytica* 115:167-172
- III. Forsström PO, Merker A and Schwarzacher T (2002) Characterisation of mildew resistant wheat-rye substitution lines and identification of an inverted chromosome by fluorescent *in situ* hybridisation. *Heredity* 88:349-355
- IV. Forsström PO, Koebner R and Merker A (2002) The conversion of wheat RFLP probes into STS markers via the single-stranded conformation polymorphism technique. Submitted.

Published papers are reproduced with permission from the publishers.

Abbreviations

- AFLP Amplified fragment length polymorphism
- BSA Bulk segregant analysis
- cv(s) Cultivar(s)
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid
- FISH Fluorescent in situ hybridisation
- GISH Genomic in situ hybridisation
- GMO Genetically modified organism
- HR Horizontal resistance
- IF Infection frequency
- IT Infection type
- ISH In situ hybridisation
- ISSR Inter-simple sequence repeat
- LP Latent period
- MAS Marker-assisted selection
- NOR Nucleolar organising region
- PAGE Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- Pm Powdery mildew
- RAPD Random amplified polymorphic DNA
- RFLP Restriction fragment length polymorphism
- SCAR Sequence characterised amplified region
- SNP Single-nucleotide polymorphism
- SSCP Single-stranded conformation polymorphism
- SSR Simple sequence repeat (microsatellites)
- STS Sequence-tagged site
- SP Spore production
- VR Vertical resistance

Introduction

The Evolutionary History of Wheat

A majority of all plant species in the world is cross-pollinated, while most cereals are self-pollinated. These are regarded as more suitable for domestication, because a natural barrier for pollination restricts the occurrence of introgressions. Selfing makes the crop more suitable for reproduction and it does not risk losing its identity. This in turn makes it easier to maintain the established character of the cultivar. For instance, an occasional mutant, such as the breakdown of the mechanism behind germination inhibition, was probably automatically selected and already more or less "fixed" in the same event. Cross-pollinated crops are less stable and require constant selection against out-crossing in order to maintain valuable characteristics. This is probably the main reason why cross-pollinators entered agriculture later and comprise a minority among traditional grain crops. The most natural candidates for successful domestication were therefore selfers that had overcome inbreeding depression. A general feature of these crops, including wheat and barley, is the occurrence of occasional cross-pollination as a source of genetic variability for adaptation and crop evolution. The development of selfpollinators hence opened up for improvements, since they could be selected for occasional out-crossing events that preserve valuable characteristics. Desirable adapted traits include the development of erect plant types, synchronised tillering and ripening, tougher rachis, the production of additional fertile florets and spikes and the reduction of glume thickness and awns (Harlan et al., 1973).

The most significant development during domestication was probably the loss of the shattering mechanism. Non-shattering mutants are believed to have replaced the old brittle types over a few generations. This deficiency would have been lost in wild derivatives, but instead developed to a crop that was totally dependent on the interaction with man for its survival. The wild type has adapted to disseminate its seeds at maturity. This mechanism depends on a fragile rachis, which disarticulates at the internode and shatters into individual spikelets. The cultivated type has a tougher rachis which is thicker throughout the length of the ear and the kernels remain on the spike when mature. Cultivated wheat is classified into two groups according to threshing response. The primitive types have hulled grains with tight spikelet glumes and tough palea invested around the kernels. The rachis breaks in fragments at the internodes, resulting in spikelets and not grains when threshed. The advanced form of cultivated wheat has thinner glumes and palea, which break and release naked kernels at threshing. The free-threshing feature of wheat has developed in two different directions. The polygenic system has evolved since the onset of cultivation and is scattered throughout most of the germplasm. It is most frequent in tetraploid species and reached completion in advanced emmer wheats (Triti*cum turgidum* ssp. *carthlicum*). It is a compelling thought by Mac Key (1966) that the squarehead factor Q evolved at the hexaploid level as the addition of new genes for spelting and brittleness from the D genome challenged the evolution of a second completion. Although the Q factor can be found in emmer wheats, it is more common in the hexaploid subspecies, namely Triticum aestivum ssp. vulgare, ssp. compactum and ssp. sphaerococcum (Table 1). The shift from hulled to free-threshing hexaploid wheat is governed mainly by one mutation (the q to Q). This indicates that naked wheat probably evolved over a relatively short time span (Zohary and Hopf, 2000). The Q factor is dominant and located on chromosome 5A, which is a suppressor gene of the speltoid character. Carriers of the Q factor have a tougher rachis and the kernels become naked after threshing. The mutants Triticum monococcum ssp. sinskajae and Triticum timopheevi ssp. militinae probably also have the Q factor, due to their short history and morphology.

A shared feature among other members of the tribe *Triticeae* is the polyploidisation in wheat species. Polyploid species have an evolutionary advantage over diploid species. These species are less isolated and tolerate gene flow and recombination with other species through introgressions and hybridisations with retained fertility. According to the concept of pivotal genome (Zohary and Feldman, 1962), a shared genome buffers other genomes in a polyploid species during hybridisation. Owing to this constitution, other genetic events of gene shuffling – such as duplications and translocations – can occur to a greater extent and hence become less vulnerable to point mutations. All these factors contribute to the genetic flexibility of wheat and make it suitable for adaptation to different environments and climates.

In ancient times, before the involvement of man, wild tetraploid wheat and the goat grass *Aegilops squarrosa* were separated geographically since they had adapted to different climates. The tetraploid wheat prefers the Mediterranean climate, while Ae. squarrosa thrives in areas with continental climate. The hybridisation between emmer and Ae. Squarrosa gave rise to hexaploid wheat. It probably has its origin in the south-western corner of the Caspian belt, which is located outside the "Fertile Crescent" of Mesopotamia and Svria. It is likely that this occurred after cultivated emmer had been domesticated and had expanded to Iran in the north and adjacent Transcaucasia. Ae. squarrosa has probably never been cultivated as a crop itself. As an opportunistic coloniser of secondary habitats, it invaded cereal fields as a weed when land was opened up by agriculture and cross-hybridised with cultivated emmer. This probably occurred in different habitats between several parent lines through recurrent hybridisation. After this event, it can be assumed that man made selections from alloploids, since there is no evidence of any hexaploid wheat in the wild. When wheat shifted from tetraploid to hexaploid form, its ability to adapt was greatly expanded. Tetraploid wheats adapted to thrive in the Mediterranean basin with mild winters and dry summers. The addition of the D genome made the hexaploid wheat better adapted to cooler continental winters and humid summers. This adaptability also explains the spread and distribution of tetraploid wheat centred around the Mediterranean basin and in the Near East, while hexaploid wheat spread over the continental plateau of Asia and the temperate areas of Europe.

Wheat has been a major staple crop in many civilisations and the history of wheat domestication covers almost 20,000 years. The earliest evidence that wheat is used comes from the Ohalo II site in Israel, where the wild tetraploid type T. turgidum ssp. dicoccoides has been found and dated back to 17,000 BC. In ancient times it was most likely a staple crop for hunters and collectors. Cultivated forms of wheat originate from between 8,000-7,000 BC. Both the diploid wheat T. monococcum ssp. monococcum and the tetraploid T. turgidum ssp. dicoccum came into cultivation simultaneously around 8,000–7,500 BC and the earliest findings of T. aestivum is at Can Hasan in Turkey, dated around 7,000 BC (Feldman et al., 1995). Wheat has been able to hold such a superior position as a staple crop owing to characteristics that are feasible for cultivation and storage. These features are shared with other cereals. In addition, wheat has unique baking qualities and a comparatively high nutritive value. This makes it suitable as a staple food resource. The starch content is between 60 and 80 percent and today, starch constitutes over 20 percent of all calories consumed by man. A normal cultivar has a protein content of at least 10 percent. The average yield world-wide is around 2,600 kg/ha, a relatively low productivity level. By comparison, most European countries are above this level owing to large amounts of fertilisers and pesticides, but also because of the predominance of winter wheat grown in some of these countries. In the current world production, wheats are one of the most important cultivated staple crops beside maize and rice, with an average annual production between 570-600 x 10⁶ MT (metric tons) each (FAO Yearbook, 1998). Improvements of these crops are of paramount importance since food demands are increasing in the world. The growth curve for the world's population has historically been defeated by an increase in average yield. The most remarkable breakthrough was the introduction of semi-dwarf varieties by the employment of *Rth* genes and the "green revolution" during the 1960s (Borlaug, 1983; Feldman et al., 1995). In the United States, there was an increase in productivity by approximately 40 percent for each decade during the 1950s and 1960s, to be compared with a stagnation of the total world-wide production of cereals during the 1990s. Wind and water erosion with soil loss, saline soils, limited water resources, reduced microbial activity in the soil and increased urban activity are the main reasons for the current decrease in agricultural productivity (Gardner, 1996). Seen from this perspective, it is rather obvious that agricultural development and productivity have to be taken seriously as major issues on our agenda for the future.

Taxonomy

The characterisation of species has predominantly been made according to morphological traits. This has created a tendency among taxonomists to exaggerate the classification of cultivated plants. There is an enormous variation within each species due to extensive breeding efforts, which have often been governed by single genes and do not justify a classification into species. Mac Key's (1966) evaluation of the genus *Triticum*, which was based on genetic concepts, has proved to be a valid classification corresponding to crucial differences between the species. He established that *Triticum* comprises the five species *T. monococcum*, *T. timopheevi*, *T. turgidum*, *Triticum zhukovskyi* and *T. aestivum*, based on the polyploidisation and the desynapsis system in *timopheevi* as the only evolutionary systems behind the processes of speciation (Table 1). Recently, *Triticum urartu, T. monococcum* ssp. *sinskajae* and *T. timopheevi* ssp. *militinae* have been recognised and described. According to Miller (1987) and Feldman *et al.* (1995) they should be included in the genus *Triticum* (Table 1). If the same approach as practised by Mac Key (1966) is used, *T. urartu* can be classified as a species, since hybrids between *T. urartu* and *T. monococcum* are sterile although they both carry the same A genome. *T. urartu* is an endemic wild type with awns, two fertile florets per spikelet and fragile ears. An analysis of isoenzymes and storage proteins have also established differences between the species. *T. monococcum* ssp. *sinskajae* (AA) is a free-threshing mutant originating from *T. monococcum* ssp.

Species	Genomes	Wild	ld Cultivated	
		Hulled	Hulled	Free-threshing
Diploid $(2n = 14)$				
T. urartu	А	All		
Т. топососсит	А	ssp. boeticum	ssp. monococcum	ssp. <i>sinskajae</i> **
Tetraploid $(2n = 28)$				
T. timopheevi	AG	ssp. araraticum	ssp. timopheevi	ssp. <i>militinae**</i>
T. turgidum	AB	ssp. dicoccoides	ssp. dicoccum ssp. paleocolchicum	ssp. turgidum ssp. durum ssp. turanicum ssp. polonicum ssp. carthlicum*
Hexaploid $(2n = 42)$				
T. zhukovskyi	AAG		All	
T. aestivum	ABD		ssp. spelta ssp. vavilovi ssp. macha	ssp. vulgare* ssp. compactum* ssp. sphaerococcum*

Table 1. Classification of the genus *Triticum* L. according to genetic conceptions (based on Mac Key, 1966; Feldman *et. al.*, 1995)

*Carrier of Q factor; **Presumed carrier of Q factor

monococcum. The mutant resembles the progenitor, but has a shorter spike. *T. timopheevi* ssp. *militinae* (AAGG) is a free-threshing tetraploid, which is derived as a mutant from *T. timopheevi*. The spike is short, wide, dense and black, with an extra awn on the outer glume (Miller, 1987). Feldman *et al.* (1995), however, have excluded the species *T. zhukovskyi* and subspecies *T. turgidum* ssp. *paleocolchicum*. *T. zhukovskyi* is a hexaploid analogue to *T. timopheevi*, and *T. turgidum* ssp. *paleocolchicum* is a cultivated hulled form, similar

to *T. turgidum* ssp. *dicoccum* but with a broader compact ear. Zohary and Hopf (2000) have reduced the classification even further and exclude *T. urartu* as well. The complex of the genera *Triticum* and *Aegilops* has been combined into one genus based on their phylogenetic relationships (Bowden, 1959; Morris and Sears, 1967). Although the reclassification, where approximately 20 species from *Aegilops* were incorporated into the enlarged genus *Triticum*, was considered a valid treatment, it has so far not been accepted (Miller, 1987). Despite the fact that traditional classification holds *Aegilops* and *Triticum* apart, they are practically regarded as the "wheat group."

The bread wheat *Triticum aestivum* ssp. *vulgare* (AABBDD) is a segmental allohexaploid (2n=6x=42), which is a hybrid between einkorn wheat and two species of Aegilops. The basic chromosome set, x=7, is the same in the three homoeologous genomes. This is a feature shared with many other monocotyledon plant species and of significance in hybridisations with other grass species. Another characteristic of polyploid wheats is the diploidising mechanism that prevents the pairing of homoeologous chromosomes by a suppressor gene Ph1, located on the long arm of chromosome 5B. The development of this diploid-like behaviour ensures stable segregation, genetic stability and preserved fertility. The progenitor of the A genome is T. monococcum, while the origin of the B genome has evaded determination and is still unsettled. The ancestor may be extinct, the donor may still be undiscovered, or the genome may be derived and combined from more than one species. The third genome D, however, originates from Ae. squarrosa. The tetraploid emmer wheats consist of the two species T. turgidum (AABB) and T. timopheevi (AAGG). The A genomes are homologous, while the B and G genomes are closely related but non-homologous. The origin of the B and G genomes has been difficult to find and obtained results have given rise to several proposed hypotheses. Aegilops speltoides (SS) was earlier recognised as the progenitor of the B genome but later experimental evidence has suggested Aegilops searsii (S^sS^s), resembling Aegilops longissima $(S^{1}S^{1})$, as a candidate donor of the B genome (Feldman, 1978), while Ae. speltoides is a more likely candidate as donor of the G genome (Feldman et al., 1995). However, both genomes have later been modified and this naturally makes it harder to identify their origin. In fact, both genomes may have been derived from the same S genome, which afterwards may have undergone modification into different genomes. An ancestral amphiploid with the genome formula AASS may have hybridised with similar polyploid species, which consisted of one common genome (here the A genome), and a second different genome, such as that of *Ae. longissima* (S¹S¹) or *Aegilops bicornis* (S^bS^b). The pivotal genome buffers the hybrids, while the second genome can exchange chromosome segments and develop modified, but convergent genomes. Hexaploid wheat (AABBDD) contains two genomes homologous with the A and B genomes in *T. turgidum*. This shows that dinkel wheat is a hybrid between emmer wheat (AABB) and *Ae. squarrosa* (DD).

The Gene Pool

The potential gene pool is an available source of recruitment of germplasm for crop improvement. The gene pool of bread wheat consists of the tribe Triticeae, which comprises around 350 species (Fig. 1) belonging to the family Poaceae (Gramineae). The tribe has evolved from a common ancestor since the early Tertiary or late Cretaceous (Löve, 1982). Cultivated cereals, such as wheat, barley and rye belong to the gene pool as do many of the most important forage and pasture grasses (Dewey, 1984; Bothmer et al., 1992). The most important genomes with bearing on the wheats belong to the genera of Triticum and Aegilops. Traditionally, scientists and breeders have been of the opinion that the gene pool of each species consists of all other taxonomically related species, which can hybridise with the species itself. However, hybrids have variable abilities for chromosome pairing during meioses based on fertility, and some crosses can result in non-surviving hybrids. These circumstances have required additional differentiation of the gene pool concept. It is proposed in order to add a genetic perspective without formal expectations into the field, where practical considerations according to crossability between species have to be evaluated. The following definitions are according to Harlan and de Wet's (1971) original version "towards a rational classification of cultivated plants" and contains the primary (I), the secondary (II) and the tertiary gene pool (III) (Fig. 1).

The primary gene pool of bread wheat consists of subspecies to hexaploid wheat and hybrids are easily created. The polyploid level is the same and the chromosome pairing is homologous. Gene transfers and segregation is almost normal and the hybrids are fully fertile. Most breeding in the field of germplasm enhancement focuses on crosses within the species, between different cultivars and lines in bread wheat.



Fig. 1. The tribe *Triticeae* with the gene pools I, II and III for *Triticum aestivum* (based on Harlan and de Wet, 1971).

The secondary gene pool consists both of species at a lower ploidy level but with homologous genomes, and of other genera, such as *Aegilops, Secale, Thinopyrum, Haynaldia* and *Leymus*, with homoeologous genomes. Gene transfer is obtained and recombination occurs in the crosses, although hybrids have reduced ability for chromosome pairing and decreased fertility. Although the gene pool may be utilised, the gene flow is restricted and certain efforts are required to overcome incompatibility barriers between the species. Extensive backcrossing schemes are required to avoid deleterious traits that may accompany the desirable genes. However, as shown in a study by Knott (1989) low efficiency has to be expected, especially with respect to yield and less so for qualitative features (indicating a low level of recombination for polygenic traits).

The tertiary gene pool consists of the most distantly related species with non-homologous genomes. Crosses can be done but the hybrids may be anomalous or lethal and due to a lack of chromosome pairing, there is no spontaneous recombination or seed setting. Nevertheless, recombination can be attained by the use of X-ray in the induction of transfers. This is most conveniently carried out at the seed stage (Sears, 1993) or circumvented with chromosome doubling, bridging species and/or embryo culture. Notwithstanding the obstacles in the transfer of germplasm, these species mainly evolved from a common ancestor and carry desirable and functional traits, such as disease resistance and winter hardiness, which could be of interest in gene transfer and may be considered in the employment of gene technology.

Regarding the progress in GMO technology, the quarternary gene pool may include all other living organisms.

Powdery Mildew

Powdery mildew (*Blumeria graminis*) is one of the most common foliar diseases in cereals. The disease is most widespread and severe at temperate latitudes and in coastal areas with maritime climate, but occurs wherever host cereals are grown. Powdery mildew, classified as Higher Fungi of the subdivision *Ascomycotina* in the order of *Erysiphales*, is an obligate parasite, which depends on living tissue to survive and seldom kills its hosts (Agrios, 1997). The fungus is host-specific and wheat powdery mildew is classified into formae specialis *tritici*, *i.e.* f.sp. *tritici*.

The critical period for fungus survival can either be a hot summer or a cold winter. During a hot and dry summer in areas where host plants do not survive, the only way for the fungus to survive is probably the development of sexual ascospores (Koltin and Kenneth, 1970). The ascospores develop in groups of four or eight per ascus inside a closed ascocarp (cleistothecium), which is the fruiting body. The cleistothecia are closed spherical containers that appear as black pinheads interwoven with the secondary mycelium and develop at the end of the season after conidial production has declined (Agrios, 1997). Cleistothecia can winter, but play a minor role in spreading the disease. Winter cereals are the most likely wintering hosts for the pathogen that survives vegetatively as dormant mycelium (Jenkyn and Bainbridge, 1978).

Any agricultural practises that reduce the primary inoculum are important to the delay of epidemic development, such as ploughing down crop debris and avoiding green bridges between winter and spring forms of the same crop. Early sown autumn crops and late sown spring crops are more frequently exposed to inoculum during the early growth stages. This can in turn have severe impact on yield loss. The crop is especially vulnerable to an infection of the disease during the seedling stage and results in fewer tillers and ears on the plant. A later attack affects the grain size and the thousand-kernel weight. Subsequently, the hormone balance of the plant is altered after an infection. The nutrient flow is allocated to the infection sites, creating general water stress. The physiology of the host is changed towards reduced photosynthesis, increased respiration and transpiration. The host responds with decreased growth, accelerated senescence and a lower leaf area index (Jenkyn and Bainbridge, 1978; Agrios, 1997).

The disease is first established in exposed field patches, where the crop is double-sown, or in areas with nitrogen surplus, because nitrogen fertilisers and a dense canopy increase the susceptibility. The optimal temperature for infection is around 15-20° C, but infection can take place between 5 and 30° C. Spores germinate better at high humidity, although this factor does not influence the mycelium development. The spores adhere with an appressorium, which is the absorbing organ of the nutrients, on the surface of the leaf and invade it by sending haustoria into the epidermal cells. The establishment of this organ is then essential for the mycelium on the leaf surface to continue to grow as the colony spreads. Additional epidermal cells are penetrated, while the mesophyll tissue below escapes intrusion (Jenkyn and Bainbridge, 1978). This primary mycelium produces conidiophores at the end of the hyphae, where small chains of rectangular or round conidia (the asexual form of the fungus) are developed and discharged passively by the wind (Agrios, 1997). Warm and sunny days with air currents followed by cold and bright nights with high humidity are typical weather conditions that accelerate the epidemic development of the disease. The life cycle of conidia is approximately one week during season and two generations can be sufficient for epidemic development (Benada, 1972). A high production of conidia and a short generation time favours a high mutation frequency and the emergence of new virulent races. The mutation frequency has been estimated to be as high as 2,000 locus⁻¹ ha⁻¹ day⁻¹ (Leijerstam, 1972).

Plant Defence

Different strategies of defence have evolved in the plant kingdom. They can be classified into three groups, namely avoidance, tolerance and resistance (Parlevliet, 1981). Avoidance and tolerance are both based on defence systems, while different forms of resistance have an active plant response mechanism in common, which is triggered after contact with a pathogen. Collinge et al. (2001) have estimated that the order of 1,000 genes are involved in response to pathogens. Avoidance is based on a strategy that evades the pathogen and can be regulated through time and space. Plant breeding for early cultivars of the crop can reduce the amount of inoculum during the critical growth stage, where the seedling stage is most vulnerable and can be passed during a lower level of primary inoculum. Spatial variation can also be of significant value, as shown by Gasowski (1990), where the deposition of leaf rust inoculum was reduced in plants with erect compared to horizontal leaf habit in cereals. The mechanisms of tolerance reduce the extent of damage caused by the pathogen, while the level of infection is not reduced, as in the case of avoidance and resistance. The plant has an ability to resist an infection through growth compensation. However, an infection always leads to a reduced yield due to increased respiration (Mac Key, 1980). This defence system therefore has limited value and active defence mechanisms are actually more useful in plant breeding.

Gene-for-Gene Interaction

Host resistance is the plant's ability to reduce growth and development in the pathogen after contact has been established (Niks *et al.*, 1993) The host-pathogen interaction was discovered by Flor (1955, 1956) in genetic studies of the flax and flax rust *Melampsora lini*. According to Flor, the host and the pathogen are interwoven with complementary genetic systems, where major resistance genes in the host interact specifically with so-called 'avirulence' genes in the pathogen. This is a paradigm that has influenced research in resistance breeding ever since the 1950s. In general terms, an avirulence factor has to be recognised by a corresponding resistance factor in the host to trigger the defence mechanism. There is no reason to assume that an avirulence factor has to be a pathogenicity factor. It can be anything produced by a pathogen and detected by a plant recognition factor (Brown, 2001). Any mutation or the absence of an avirulence factor makes the pathogen undetectable to the host and the pathogen therefore stands a better chance of becoming virulent. Even if the gene-for-gene system has been proved for some diseases, there are several examples where no such relationship has been found (Johnson, 1992). However, advances in molecular biology have discovered a more complicated background of the gene-forgene model.

A complete model of a typical resistance mechanism consists of a pathway including several stages such as the detection of the pathogen, a signal transduction pathway and the final disease resistance response. Song *et al.* (1995) revealed all these functions in one resistance gene *Xa21*, a cloned rice gene that gives resistance to a race of *Xanthomonas oryzae* pv. *oryzae*, while Salmeron *et al.* (1996) showed the complexity around the *Pto* gene which gives tomato plants resistance to the bacterial pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *tomato* by contributing genes in the pathway of the defence mechanism.

Vertical versus Horizontal Resistance

van der Plank (1963, 1968) proposed two distinct resistance classes. Vertical resistance (VR) based on major genes, which was effective against certain races and follows a gene-for-gene relationship, while horizontal resistance (HR) was equally effective against all races and therefore beyond a gene-for-gene system. Parlevliet (1979) stated that van der Plank (1968) defined the classes in population kinetic terms, while the interpretation was epidemiological. The *a priori* definition of host resistance does not concern the spread of the disease and similarly, these classes are described in terms of the epidemiological parameters x_o and r. According to van der Plank, VR was of a race-specific nature and was supposed to decrease x_o , which is the amount of primary inoculum present at the start of an epidemic. HR was of a race-nonspecific nature and supposed to reduce r, which is the infection rate (van der Plank, 1968). Subsequently, in

terms of epidemiology VR and HR are defined as follows: VR reduces the amount of effective initial inoculum and HR is considered a rate-reducing resistance. This re-definition would have avoided all later confusion that arose regarding the original terminology (Nelson, 1978). Parlevliet (1979) showed that, from an epidemiological perspective, x_o and r were not as independent from each other as van der Plank presumed, since the infection frequency (IF), i.e. the proportion of spores that result in sporulating lesions, influenced them both. A popular assessment of so-called 'compound interest diseases', *i.e.* diseases which have many cycles of reproduction per year (van der Plank, 1963), a category that includes powdery mildews, has been to measure *infection types* (IT) that are crucial to the value x_o . Low IT is then often recorded as race-specific resistance with monogenic inheritance (Parlevliet, 1978), and r-reduced resistance is mainly recorded as polygenic, although not always (Nelson, 1978). Parlevliet (1979) also stated that both x_o -reducing and r-reducing resistances can be either race-specific or race-nonspecific. Others have argued that the distinction between VR and HR may be artificial and fabricated (Johnson, 1978). Nevertheless, none of the critics have abandoned van der Plank's general hypothesis, and several authors (Parlevliet and Zadoks, 1977; Nelson, 1978) have given him credit for the increased appreciation of epidemiology and the efforts to explain the dynamics of the host-pathogen relationship. In fact, there have been several attempts to refine the terminology as research has progressed (Shaner et al., 1992; Bos and Parlevliet, 1995), although the controversies probably still have not been settled.

VR and HR have been presented as two distinct classes of resistance, but the crucial question is if there is any constitutional difference between them. Nelson *et al.* (1970) stated very early that there is no other difference between VR and HR than variable effects of their gene expressions in different genetic backgrounds. This tendency was observed with isolates of *Trichometasphaeria turcica* and inbreed lines of maize, where lines with a large number of resistance genes reacted more uniformly than inbreeds with few genes for resistance. This implicates that separate genes function vertically, while the same genes function uniformly when found together in one genotype, due to the cumulative effect. Parlevliet and Zadoks (1977) also concluded that there are no constitutional differences between VR and HR and that the major distinction between them is considered to be their oligogenic and polygenic nature. Here, they introduced the interaction model to include minor genes in the paradigm of the gene-for-gene relationship and found support in Nelson *et al.* (1970), although they admitted that minor interactions are difficult to distinguish from the error variance. The results are then measured in an additive way, in the same manner as the addition model by van der Plank (1975). The interaction model confirms the proposed idea that polygenic resistance represents archaic major genes. Although they have lost their crucial influence during co-evolution, together with others they contribute to substantial background resistance (Clifford, 1975; Nelson, 1978).

Plant breeding focused on VR does not exclude breeding efforts on HR, which can enhance the effect of VR. They can even be complementary to each other. However, a loss of HR may not be discovered in the presence of race-specific resistance. This is an unavoidable complication owing to the masking effect commonly known as the Vertifolia effect and caused by genetic erosion (van der Plank, 1968). An apparent procedure to obtain various goals in the breeding efforts would then be to introduce race-specific resistance at the final breeding stages. Since variation in resistance also can be observed between different plant stages, and even between different tissues of the plant (Bennett, 1981), further consideration and adjustment of the applied strategies may be needed.

Race-Specific Resistance

Race-specific resistance has been described in terms of vertical, specific, differential and qualitative resistance, as monogenic with major genes, complete, unstable and non-durable. Race-specific resistance is effective against certain isolates but ineffective against others. Its ability to resist and withstand an attack from the pathogen is decreased during high infection pressure from the pathogen and increased during lower selection pressure on the pathogen (obtained via a broader spectrum of resistance genes in the cv.). A common feature shared among diseases that have many cycles of reproduction per year is the development of new races that may already exist within the pathogen population or may be developed *de novo* by a high mutation frequency (Leijerstam, 1972; Parlevliet and Zadoks, 1977). A normal pattern shows either a complete resistance against all races of the pathogen in the area or a relatively quick turnover with multiplication of one single race. Since the cultivars are extremely vulnerable if no other defence mechanisms can be used as plant protection, fungicide treatment may be used as a last resort.

Disease resistance is a character with high heritability and selection in an ongoing breeding programme can therefore be made already in F_3 (McIntosh, 1978). In general, single major genes control resistance to powdery mildew during the seedling stage. Until now, a total number of 25 *Pm*-loci with four cases of multiple allelism, recognised as race-specific resistance genes in wheat, have been identified (Keller *et al.*, 1999; Chen and Chelkowski, 1999). However, the introduction of novel mildew resistance genes remains to be extended as several reports have indicated (Bennett, 1984; Heun and Fischbeck, 1987a; Huang *et al.*, 1997a). The loci that are located in synteny with genomes of related species (Table 2) are of particular interest to the identification of novel mildew resistance genes.

A majority of identified race-specific resistance genes against powdery mildew originate from the 'wheat group', *i.e.* the genera Triticum and Aegilops. Other introductions from the secondary gene pool consist of four resistance genes from the genus Secale called Pm7, Pm8, Pm17 and Pm20, and one gene from the genus Haynaldia called *Pm21* (Chen *et al.*, 1995). To a certain extent, synteny can be predicted in accordance with the major re-arrangements between rye and wheat genomes as studied by Devos et al. (1993). Co-linearity mainly exists between rye (1R) and the first chromosome group of wheat, the long arm of the second rye chromosome (2RL) and the wheat counterparts and the centromeric regions of other chromosomes. Pm7 is located on a translocation between nonhomoeologous chromosomes. The translocation 4B/2R was made with X-ray and introduced in the line Transec. The substituted segment of 4B has had little influence on the translocation (Driscoll and Anderson, 1967; McIntosh et al., 1995a). Pm8 is located either in a substitution or a translocation 1RS.1BL. The ryc chromosome 1R has the ability to compensate the loss of the wheat chromosome 1B, but the translocation is superior in terms of agronomic qualities. Kavkaz and Aurora are two well-known 1RS-cultivars, mainly distributed in Eastern Europe (Zeller, 1973). The translocation 1RS.1AL is introduced to the line Amigo and contains Pm17, which is an allel to Pm8 (Hsam and Zeller, 1997). The cultivar was created using X-ray treatment of F_1 seeds after a cross between a hexaploid

Chrom	Genomes					Derivation	Representative cultivar/line	
	Α	В	D	R	V	S		cultival/inic
1			Pm10				T.aestivum	Norin 4
			Pm22				T.aestivum	Virest
	Pm25						T.boeticum	NC96BGTA5
1S	Pm3a						T.aestivum	Asosan x Cc ⁸
	Pm3b						T.aestivum	Chul x Cc ⁸
	Pm3c						T.aestivum	Sonora x Cc ⁸
	Pm3d						T.aestivum	Kolibri
	Pm3e						T.aestivum	W150
	Pm3f						T.aestivum	Michigan
								Amber x Ce ⁸
				Pm8			S.cereale	Disponent
				Pm17			S.cereale	Amigo
2L		Pm6					T.timopheevii	TP114 x Starke ²
	Pm4a						T.dicoccum	Khapli x Cc ⁸
	Pm4b						T.carthlicum	Armada
				Pm7			S.cereale	Transec
	Pm23						T.aestivum	81-7241
35						Pm13	Ae.longissima	R1A, R1D
4	Pm16						T.dicoccoides	BRG3N
58			Pm2				Ae.squarrosa	Ulka x Ce ⁸
6		Pm14					T.aestivum	Norin 10
			Pm24				T.aestivum	Chiyacao
6S		Pmll					T.aestivum	Salmon
		Pm12					Ae.speltoides	Wembley line
								#31
					Pm21		Haynaldia	C215
							villosa	
6L				Pm20			S.cereale	Prolific (rye cv.)
7			SuPm8				T.aestivum	Caribo
	Pm18						T.aestivum	Weihenstephan
								stamm MIN
			Pm19				Ae.squarrosa	XX 186
75			Pm15				T.aestivum	Norin 26
7L	Pmla						T.aestivum	Axminster x Cc ⁸
	PmIb						T.aestivum	MocZlatka
	PmIc						T.aestivum	Weihenstephan
								stamm MIN
	PmId						T.spelta	duhamelianum
		pm5a					T.dicoccum	Hope
		Pm5b					T.aestivum	Xiaobaidong
	Pm9						T.aestivum	Normandie

Table 2. Powdery mildew resistance loci and alleles in wheat (based on Chen and Chelkowski, 1999)

 Cc^8 – seven times backcrossed with cv. 'Chancellor' Starke² = once backcrossed with cv. 'Starke'

wheat line and the octaploid triticale cultivar Gaucho (Heun *et al.*, 1990). Pm20 is located on the long arm of rye chromosome 6R and translocated as a 6RL.6BS from the rye cultivar Prolific. The transfer was carried out as a homologous recombination between a mono-

somic substitution line 6RL(6D) and an existing susceptible translocation (Heun and Friebe, 1990; Friebe *et al.*, 1994).

Race-Nonspecific Resistance

Race-nonspecific resistance has such epithets as horizontal, general and uniform and has been described as polygenic with minor genes, quantitative, incomplete, stable and durable, as partial resistance and field resistance. Durable resistance is mostly partial or incomplete and these terms have therefore been tightly connected with each other. However, partial resistance itself can not be taken as a criterion for the selection of durable resistance, as *e.g.* partial resistance to yellow rust in wheat has sometimes turned out to be non-durable (Johnson, 1978). In addition, Johnson (1984) stated that there are several examples of durable resistance due to single genes.

Race-nonspecific resistance is, however, regarded as reliable because of the nature of the resistance, which is quantitative and complex, *i.e.* functional in an additive way with separate sets of genes and contributions from several so-called 'minor genes'. Selective progress is measured as continuous variation in the level of resistance and results are compared as relative values of different lines and cultivars. In this way, breeders have developed a useful and standardised strategy to deal with polygenes, which may be scattered all over the genome but sometimes also gathered in groups on particular chromosomes (Thoday, 1961; Johnson, 1978), although Bennett (1984) concluded that the German cv. Diplomat so far is the only known example in wheat where quantitative resistance to mildew has been shown to be of polygenic character. In addition, two examples of durable resistance are known, *i.e.* the cv. Maris Huntsman and cv. Knox from the United States.

A significant feature of race-nonspecific resistance is that the discase develops slower than with race-specific resistance. Parlevliet (1979) concluded that reduced infection frequency (IF), prolonged latent period (LP) and decreased spore production (SP) are the key components in the resistance that influence the pathogen's reproduction rate (r). The impact of race-nonspecific resistance is more significant when the selection pressure is extended over a longer period in the season and/or a wider geographical region. The displacement of a wind-dispersed pathogen population such as powdery mildew is on average 110 km per year in the predominant wind direction. Basically, successful varieties should therefore be introduced in the opposite wind direction, *i.e.* from east to west in Europe (Limpert, 1987).

General Perspectives of Resistance

In the process from natural populations of self-pollinated cereals to the cultivation of crops, there has been a genetic shift from highly diversified populations towards genetically uniform varieties grown over large areas. Naturally, the co-evolutionary change in pathogen populations has not been less dramatic during this man-made evolution. The selection pressure favours multiplication of pre-existing virulent races in the pathogen populations, something that makes cultivated crops far more vulnerable than a natural host population at genetic equilibrium. All resistance genes in the natural host population, more or less, are presumed to have virulent counterparts in the pathogen population, at genetic equilibrium, but there are no fully developed genotypes that can resist all pathotypes and no virulent races that are virulent on all host genotypes. Thus, genetic equilibrium is based on different sets of genes operating both on the host and the pathogen populations and the outcome is the combined effect of these systems.

Resistance durability is not solely a question of its sovereignty, but also a reflection of genetic homeostasis acting in the pathogen population. Genetic homeostasis restricts genetic changes due to the already attained maximum fitness regarding the differentiation of the genotypes and their respective frequencies in the population. The number of loci involved and the recombination frequency govern the efficiency of genetic homeostasis (Lerner, 1954). For practical reasons, it is therefore beneficial to explore genetic homeostasis in pathogen populations. It has been suggested that genetic equilibrium similar to that which prevailed between natural populations of hosts and pathogens also can be obtained with race-nonspecific resistance in modern crops (Nelson, 1978). Alternatively, it is possible to use an approach where a differential set of race-specific resistance genes are deployed in the concept of gene pyramiding (Hittalmani, 2000). In addition to the polygenic and the pyramiding approach, the same result can be obtained with a multiline approach (Wolfe and Barrett, 1980).

Wide Hybridisation

The introduction of alien germplasm into wheat by means of wide hybridisation has mainly been attributed to three different methods reviewed by Sharma and Gill (1984): (i) The use of ionising radiations (recommended for use on seeds by Sears, 1993), which causes breakage and a subsequent fusion of chromosomal segments. Sears (1956) successfully applied this method as early as the 1950s with irradiation applied to pollen mother cells. (ii) The induction of homoeologous chromosome pairing according to one of the following two methods: (1) using a Ph1 mutant (ph1b) (Sears, 1977) that normally suppresses the mechanism, or, (2) the method used by Riley et al. (1968), where the same effect was obtained through a cross with Triticum speltoides (Tausch), which contains genetic factors that inactivate the suppressor gene Ph1. Friebe et al. (1996) summarised that 10 of 57 spontaneous and induced wheat-alien translocations had their breakage-fusion in the centromeric region. A majority of the transfers (45) were terminal translocations, with an alien segment translocated to the wheat chromosome arm, and two were intercalary transfers. Translocations caused by induced homoeologous pairing generally have the ability to compensate for the lost (substituted) segment, whereas radiation treatments cause random chromosome breakage, which means that transfers normally occur as noncompensating translocations with the implement of genetic imbalance. The latter method is seldom used, although it has been employed successfully by several researchers (Sears, 1983). However, it is not recommended except when the target gene is located in the centromeric region beyond the range of recombination (Jiang et al., 1994). (iii) Exploiting the tendency of univalents to misdivide and reunite. For example in F1 hybrids between hexaploid triticale and hexaploid wheat, there is one set of the R and the D genome forming two sets of univalents. These univalents are under pressure from the centric breakage-fusion mechanism during meiosis and can be selected as homozygous translocations and substitutions after some generations (Sears, 1952; Merker, 1984). Studies on the recovery rate of rye chromosomes at BC_1F_3 and F_4 generation have shown that the chromosome 1R was recovered most frequently, 2R and 3R to some extent, while 4R and 7R were most likely transmitted together due to chromosomal rearrangements in the rye genome compared to the wheat homoeologous (Merker, 1984; Gustafson et al., 1985; Devos et al., 1993). Several agronomic traits have been successfully

transferred to wheat from alien germplasm, such as disease resistance, winter hardiness, stress and salt tolerance from *Aegilops* species, *T. timopheevi*, *Haynaldia villosa*, *Thinopyrum* species and *Secale cereale* (for review see Friebe *et al.*, 1996; Jiang *et al.*, 1994).

Aims and Design of this Study

The overall aim of this study was to broaden mildew resistance in bread wheat. Novel sources from alien germplasm, *i.e.* triticale and *Leymus mollis*, were used for the introgression and stabilised wheat lines were obtained for investigation and are now available for breeding programmes. The specific aims were:

- To select mildew-resistant wheat lines from advanced generations of crosses between sources of novel resistance and susceptible wheat cvs. (*Paper I*).
- To characterise obtained mildew-resistant lines with different cytogenetic methods (*Papers II and III*).
- To develop chromosome-specific PCR markers located on chromosome 2L, including 2RL as a carrier of mildew resistance (*Paper IV*).

Our study was based on an extensive amount of pre-breeding material, including interspecific crosses between mildew-susceptible wheat cvs. and mildew-resistant triticales, a wheat-rye substitution line and a wheat-*Leymus* mollis hybrid (Forsström and Merker, 2001; Merker and Rogalska, 1984; Anamthawat-Jónsson, 1999). These were assumed to contain novel sources of mildew resistance. It was assumed that chromosome substitution and meiotic misdivision and reunion would occur when the material was developed. This is especially feasible when specific alien traits can be selected and traditional breeding methods are used without any need for complicated laboratory techniques. Introgressions in plant material from crosses were hence achieved without any particular technique such as induced homoeologous pairing or irradiation treatment. The material was propagated through self-pollination and investigated in advanced generations.

(1) *Isolation of alien germplasm.* In the first paper of the study, we made a selection of powdery mildew-resistant genotypes. Heun and Fischbeck (1987a) were first to use a differential set of isolates of the pathogen to differentiate between commercial cvs. and afterwards it has been widely used (Heun and Fischbeck, 1987b; Hovmøller, 1989; Leath and Heun, 1990; Lutz *et al.*, 1992; Huang *et al.*, 1997a; Huang *et al.*, 1997b). A small set of particularly virulent isolates was used in our study in order to reduce our material into a sensible number of mildew-resistant genotypes. We used the same isolates

that are applied by commercial breeders in Sweden and the results of using these isolates are compiled in *Paper I*.

(2) Characterisation of alien germplasm. In the second paper of the study, we characterised resistant genotypes derived from a double wheat-rye substitution line. Available methods for characterisation can be biochemical, molecular or cytogenetic technologies, recently reviewed by Berzonsky and Francki (1999). Wang *et al.* (1998) showed a combination of the used methods Southern hybridisation, PAGE of storage proteins, C-banding and *in situ* hybridisation (ISH). A standard karyotype for wheat (Endo and Gill, 1984; Gill *et al.*, 1991) and rye (Gill and Kimber, 1974; Sybenga, 1983) enables the use of the Giemsa C-banding method to identify transferred chromosomes in wheat-rye hybrids. The rye chromosomes are predominantly recognised by their large heterochromatic regions of the telomeres. Our results are assembled in *Paper II*.

(3) Chromosome painting of alien germplasm. In the third paper of the study, we characterised resistant genotypes derived from interspecific crosses between resistant triticale and susceptible bread wheats. According to Islam-Faridi and Mujeeb-Kazi (1995) and Lavania (1998), molecular cytogenetics is the most appropriate method for characterisation of alien chromosome introgressions. The advantage of genomic in situ hybridisation (GISH) compared to other methods is the "painting" of all alien germplasm located in the nucleus. The method has been widely used to investigate the origin of genomes, chromosomes and parental genomes in hybrids (Schwarzacher et al., 1989) and to analyse derived introgressed lines from interspecific crosses (Murata et al., 1992; Schwarzacher et al., 1992; Taketa et al., 1997). Fluorescent in situ hybridisation (FISH) combined with GISH enables the detection of translocations and other aberrations, including particular breakpoints, by the use of specific repetitive DNA probes, as in our study Paper III.

(4) Development of PCR markers. In the fourth paper of our study, we developed sequence-tagged sites (STS) markers. The aim was to develop chromosome-specific PCR markers located on the long arm of chromosome group 2, designed for the translocation T2BS.2RL, which is a carrier of mildew resistance (see *Paper II*). Here a novel method is applied for the development of PCR-based markers that takes advantage of exploring already mapped and sequenced RFLPs. Our study revealed that internal sequences of the RFLP probes offer

a sufficient degree of polymorphism that even allele-specific STS markers could be obtained. The results are presented in *Paper IV*.

Results and Discussion

Isolation of Alien Germplasm (Paper I)

Since the early 1980s it has been known that interspecific crosses between triticale and bread wheat can conduct transfers of rve chromatin. Lukaszewski and Apolinarska (1981) have shown that winter triticale has the benefit of being able to maintain the complete R genome, while spring triticale can be inclined to lose rye chromosomes and replace them by their D-homoeologous chromosomes in secondary triticales (crosses between triticale and wheat). Merker (1984) suggested that triticale used as a female in the cross with wheat produces viable seeds, while in the reciprocal cross, the endosperm development is disturbed and the embryos have to be rescued by an embryo culture. Lukaszewski (1982) also showed that it would be preferable to use wheat pollen in crosses with F₁ hybrids in order to facilitate the transmission of ryc chromosomes in the egg cells. This was the method used to develop the material used in our study. The crosses and hybrids in our study have been designed in accordance with these findings. Furthermore, a delay in the isolation of resistant lines to later generations (BC_1F_4 or F_5) increased the possibility of isolating genetic transfers in a homozygous state.

The overall aim was to isolate a feasible number of mildewresistant genotypes using a robust and reliable test method. According to Hovmøller (1989) there were no detected differences between the use of intact seedlings or detached leaf segments when the scale 0 to 4 was used in the mildew test. However, intermediate infection types had a tendency to be exaggerated when leaf segments were used instead of intact seedlings. Intermediate infection types were also more sensitive to temperature. We had no statistical aims and hence a 0 to 9 scale was unnecessary. The scale 0 to 4 was chosen and the experiment was conducted on intact seedlings. We used three of the most virulent isolates found in Sweden, currently used by commercial plant breeders. Previously, another mildew isolate (less virulent) was used for pre-selection. Moreover, the technique used to infect intact seedlings in the greenhouse is less vulnerable to fluctuations in drought and temperature. We reduced an extensive amount of genotypes (approximately 13,000 lines) to a handful valuable resistant wheat lines. By comparison, the line Riebesel 47-51, which is the main source for the currently most used wheat cvs. that

carry the translocation 1BL/1RS, was based on the selection of more than 10,000 spikes (Rabinovich, 1998).

It has been proven that wheat-rye translocations can increase the yield, especially in lower-yielding environments and under dry conditions (Moreno-Sevilla *et al.*, 1995a; Villareal *et al.*, 1998). In addition to disease resistance (Zeller and Hsam, 1983; Rajaram *et al.*, 1983) and other traits such as winter hardiness (Moreno-Sevilla *et al.*, 1995b), earliness, tolerance to low pH and drought tolerance (Merker, 1984; Plaha and Sethi, 1993; Schlegel *et al.*, 1998), they also contain genes for adaptability (Plaha and Sethi, 1993). They are therefore considered the most important alien sources of enhancing wheat germplasm (Bartoš, 1993; Jiang *et al.*, 1994; Friebe *et al.*, 1996).

Lines with a mildew reaction similar to the formerly known *Pm8* and *Pm17* represent the highest scores of resistant genotypes from the interspecific crosses between mildew-resistant triticale and susceptible bread wheat. It indicates the presence of 1RS in these lines, *i.e.* RSS, as shown in Table 3 and Tables 1 and 2 of *Paper I*.

Triticale x wheat*	Highest score(s) **
TC1 x H	SRS
(TC1 x H) x K	RSS
(TC2 x H) x K	RSS and RRS
(TC3 x H) x K	RSS
(TC2 x H) x G	RSS

Table 3. Highest score(s) of resistant genotypes in the different interspecific crosses between mildew-resistant triticale and susceptible bread wheat

* TC1-3 = Triticale 1-3; H = cv. Holme; K = cv. Kraka (contains recessive resistant gene pm5; G = wheat line Goerzen

** Mildew reaction: R = Resistant; S = Susceptible; Order of isolates: M_{Da} , Egt1 and M_{Hu} ; See Table 1 in *Paper I* for a characterisation of these isolates.

Lines resistant to the isolate Egt1 in the cross TC1 x H and (TC2 x H) x K presumably contains an additional source of resistance. This is in accordance with the hypothesis we used in *Paper I* and we could analyse these categories to examine if they really contain alien germplasm from the rye genome. However, at this stage we are also concerned about the hidden formulas behind some of the other categories and this requires further examination.

Why does the population TC1 x H contain a negligible number of lines resistant to the isolate M_{Da} ? Is it because of a suppression of 1RS or because of the absence of 1RS and 1R? A reasonable explanation could be that the population is still segregating. Other categories from this cross must therefore be examined before a final conclusion can be drawn. Whatever the reason, we can expect the same pattern in the cross (TC1 x H) x K if it is due to the origin of the TC parent. Two dominant categories have been scored in the cross (TC2 x H) x K, while the other crosses lack a second category. There is no association with either TC or wheat backgrounds and this distribution of lines can therefore not solely be explained by either the origin of triticale or the used bread wheats in the crosses. It would therefore, for instance, be necessary to bulk different categories of genotypes in the above populations and score the differences in a bulk segregant analysis (BSA) (Michelmore et al., 1991). BSA would be suitable for use in conjunction with the AFLP marker system (Vos et al., 1995) to reveal the complexity of interactions between different used combinations of bread wheats and triticale. Since we, obviously, did not isolate any novel resistance located at the Pm8/Pm17 locus (Hsam and Zeller, 1997) there is no need to exploit mildew resistance in these categories. However, it has been shown before that the yield and end use quality of 1RS cvs. may depend on the interaction between the rye genes and the wheat backgrounds (Schlegel and Meinel, 1994; Moreno-Sevilla et al., 1995a; Moreno-Sevilla et al., 1995b; Lee et al., 1995; Villareal et al., 1998). This emphasises the importance of a broader genetic diversity of 1RS sources in different wheat backgrounds. Further examinations of the parameters yield and baking properties could therefore be made in order to investigate the value of these categories and perhaps affirm a combined BSA/AFLP analysis. The broader resistance shown in the eight RRR-resistant genotypes in the triticale x wheat material are likely to be far more important than the genotypes above and the use of these lines is discussed extensively in Paper III.

The absence of category RSS in the cross SUB x G (Table 2 in *Paper I*) can be explained by the presence of a suppressor gene in the line Goerzen similar to the suppressor gene located on 7D and described by Hanušová *et al.* (1996). It was probably selected against already in the test with the isolate M_0 . This hypothesis could be examined by a cross with Goerzen and representatives from RSS in the crosses SUB x H and SUB x K and a study of the mode of inheri-

tance. It would be of minor importance except that these results show the beneficial value of making crosses with wheats of different backgrounds. Similarly, the RRR category is probably influenced by the wheat background, both in the crosses TC x wheat, (TC x wheat) x wheat and (AD99 x wheat) x wheat, whereas SUB x wheat seems more independent of such interactions.

Characterisation of Alien Germplasm (Paper II)

The aim was to evaluate the efficiency of methods used to make a selection based on mildew resistance and fertility in combination with the C-banding method used to isolate translocations from a mildew-resistant double disomic (1R+2R) wheat-rye substitution line, crossed with susceptible bread wheats. The most prominent result of this investigation was the isolation of the translocation 2BS.2RL, which showed a broader resistance than Pm7, *i.e.* the previous rye-derived resistance gene from this particular chromosome arm, which is transferred to the line Transec. In *Paper IV* we report the development of PCR markers for T2BS.2RL that can distinguish between 2RL and 2BL.

When alien introgression is used, there is always concern about detrimental effects. It is well-known that the IRS cultivars provide increased yield and decreased bread-making qualities, *i.e.* dough weakness and stickiness, poor extensibility and sensitivity to overmixing (Martin and Stewart, 1986; Koebner and Shephard, 1988; Fenn et al., 1994). The Hamlet translocation T2BS.2RL was developed and derived from a cross with "Chaupon" rye at Kansas State University (Lapitan et al., 1984; Friebe et al., 1990). It is a carrier of Hessian fly [Mayetiola destructor (Say)] resistance. In a study intended to clarify the quality of the Hamlet translocation T2BS.2RL, different parameters such as test weight, flour yield, kernel hardness, mixograph mixing time and bake-mixing time were used. It was established that differences in milling and baking properties were so minor that they could be overcome by breeding efforts and the line is currently used in wheat breeding programmes in Kansas (Knackstedt et al., 1994). There are no major storage proteins located on 2BL and this is probably why the baking properties in the T2BS.2RL translocation could be retained. The rye chromatin of 2RL shows homoeology with 2BL and therefore compensates the substituted segment, as

there are no chromosome rearrangements in 2RL compared to chromosome group 2L in wheat (Devos *et al.*, 1993).

Wernersson (2001) has analysed several agronomic characters, such as resistance to lodging, straw length, heading date, fertility, hectolitre weight, 1000-kernel weight, yield and amylase activity on our translocation T2BS.2RL. Two days later heading date of translocation carriers was the only significant difference compared to noncarriers. The later heading is similar to the 1RS-cvs. Another character of 1RS-cvs. is a higher kernel weight, but our 2BS.2RL carriers were closer to the non-carriers. Results showed that the yield was higher although it should not be considered as reliable since the experiment was conducted in small "hills." Rye has in general a lower hectolitre weight and a weaker straw compared to wheat and results indicate that these characters have other chromosome locations than 2RL. Rye also has a taller straw than wheat, and here in the study it was slightly taller but still within the limits of selection. Both categories showed the same fertility, which indicates that the translocation is able to compensate for the lost segment 2BL. Sprouting in the car can decrease the quality, especially during periods of humidity. Results showed that this character was not affected and may even enhance the product, because a formerly known alpha-amylase inhibitor is located on 2RL (Sadowski et al., 1988). However, further examinations must be done regarding quality and yield, especially as it can be used directly in wheat breeding and contains other important traits (Schlegel et al., 1998). For instance, leaf rust resistance could be scored since 2RL is a formerly known carrier of leaf rust resistance (McIntosh et al., 1995b).

Chromosome Painting of Alien Germplasm (Paper III)

Molecular cytogenetics can be used to determine the physical location of specific DNA sequences on the chromosomes. A simultaneous multicolour approach first applied by Leitch *et al.* (1991), and Mukai (1996) succeeded in using seven different probes in one experiment by combining three fluorochromes. The advantage of simultaneous FISH is that specific DNA sequences can be placed in order. The physical distance in the hybridisation of different probes can have major impact on the results. Conventional FISII techniques have a lower limit for resolution (approximately 1–10 kb) (Mukai and Yamamoto, 1998; Schubert *et al.*, 1998) and two hybridised sequences must be separated by a distance of at least 1Mbp. A shorter distance between the hybridisation sites results in a single intermixed signal. The mapping resolution on metaphase chromosomes is usually restricted to 2 Mbp in plants and the relatively low resolution compared to human chromosomes is partly due to the plant cell construction and particularly to a higher degree of condensation of the chromosomes at this stage. However, the digestion by enzymes can break down the cell wall barrier and cell debris can be wiped away with a pectinase treatment. An examination of interphase chromosomes may otherwise be an alternative due to the decondensed nature of the chromosomes at this stage (Jiang and Gill, 1994; Lavania, 1998).

Physical mapping of repetitive DNA sequences by FISH can be obtained using cloned probes from both wheat and rye. The chromosomes in those genomes can hence be identified (Cuadrado et al., 1995). The Aegilops squarrosa clone pAs1 and the homologous clone dpTa1 can both be used to identify the D-genome chromosomes (Rayburn and Gill, 1987; Pedersen and Langridge, 1997; Vershinin et al., 1994). The ryc clone pSc119.2 can be used to identify the R-genome and B-genome chromosomes (McIntyre et al., 1990; Mukai et al., 1993; Cuadrado et al., 1995). Simple sequence repeats (SSRs), in particular the motifs GACA, AAC and AAG, can identify R-genome and B-genome chromosomes (Pedersen and Langridge, 1997; Cuadrado and Schwarzacher, 1998; Cuadrado et al., 2000). The clone pTa71 can identify major NORs in 1R, 1B and 6B and minor NORs in 1A and 5D (Gerlach and Bedbrock, 1979; Mukai et al., 1991). The clone pTa794 can be used to identify the 5S rDNA (Castilho and Heslop-Harrison, 1995) (see Table 1 in Paper III).

We were able to determine the breakpoints of an inverted 1R chromosome (rye genome) at metaphase I by using five of those different repetitive DNA probes combined with GISH. We showed that the breakpoints were between (1) the 5S rDNA site and the NOR region on the satellite of the short arm, and (2) between two $AAC_{(5)}$ sites close to the centromere on the long arm, *i.e.* a pericentric inversion. A measurement of the physical length of the chromosome and GISH revealed no indication of any other rearrangement of the chromosome. Lines with an inverted 1R are difficult to maintain in crosses with other lines carrying 1R. The aberrant structure of 1R in these lines could instead be explored in the development of recombinant wheat-rye lines, in order to minimise alien chromatin or

to create a dosage effect through deletions or duplications of the rye chromatin.

Five other mildew-resistant lines were also analysed at metaphase I by C-banding, GISH and FISH. They were found to be either addition or substitution lines and rye chromosome 1R was present in all lines. This indicates that the mildew resistance is located on 1R. Rye chromosome 1R and pre-dominantly Pm8 has been regarded as the main source of mildew resistance derived from rye (Zeller, 1973). However, the breakdown of *Pm8* in Europe and in China may have changed the genetic equilibrium between the host and the pathogen. This implicates that breeding must consider resistance from other sources, a fact that may still be used or investigated. For instance, *Pm17* still resists the pressure in Europe due to the fact that it is currently mainly used in the United States. It has already been concluded by Heun and Fischbeck (1987a and 1987b) that extended efforts are needed to broaden the genetic basis for wheat. The limited number of currently used major resistance genes/alleles in wheat cvs. in China (6) and Europe (9), reminds us that the level of protection from resistant sources must be enhanced (Huang et al., 1997a). Rabinovich (1998) summarised that 330 cultivars and wheat lines bred in 35 different countries on five continents contained either the substitution 1R or the translocation 1RS, while this rye germplasm originated from four different rye sources. Evidently, the main reason why 1RS cvs. are consistently so popular can be attributed to its higher yield. Our triticale-derived lines that contain 1R may, if they hold further examination, be a welcome contribution to the genetic diversity in the stream of released 1RS cvs. This refers both to mildew resistance and the constitution of the derived rye chromosome, and its interactions with different wheat backgrounds. As far as we can see, it can be assumed that 1R is the most likely carrier of mildew resistance derived from the interspecific crosses with triticale.

Formerly derived mildew resistance genes from rye have been transferred from four chromosomes of the genome, *i.e.* 1R, 2R, 4R and 6R (Zeller, 1973; Heun *et al.*, 1990; Driscoll and Jensen, 1965; Lind, 1982; Friebe *et al.*, 1994). Their presence in our material is probably the result of a selection for broad mildew resistance during the development of these lines. Subsequent crosses with the addition/ substitution lines (1R + 2R; 1R + 4R; 1R + 6R) and susceptible bread wheats could reveal if the rye chromosomes 2R, 4R and 6R are involved in the defence mechanisms of these lines, and to what ex-

tent. It may not be a coincidence that these chromosomes are formerly known carriers of mildew resistance. In order to elucidate the precise effects on resistance in the different rye chromosomes, cosegregation between resistance and rye chromosomes could be studied in populations from crosses between the different resistant lines and susceptible bread wheat cultivars.

Development of PCR Markers (Paper IV)

DNA markers have several advantages over biochemical and phenotypic markers, e.g. a higher degree of polymorphism and independence of gene expression. They are not environmentally influenced and can basically be extracted from all living tissues at all plant stages (Galc and Sharp, 1988). However, a suitable DNA marker system must be used according to the aim and specific objectives of each study. RFLPs has been the most extensively used marker system in comparative mapping and the study of synteny, since it can be utilised to detect homoeologous loci. PCR marker systems are more feasible in studies of genetic diversity and practical breeding. The current map of SSRs in wheat has approximately 1,000 mapped loci with a high degree of polymorphism. It is hence the most common method for marker-assisted selection (MAS) in practical wheat breeding. Multiplexed methods such as AFLPs and ISSRs are more suitable for studies of genetic diversity (Gupta et al., 1999). SNPs and other non-gel-based technologies like microarrays and pyrosequencing are attractive alternatives to the above methods, although it has currently not been established that they could replace the current technologies for financial reasons (Qi et al., 2001; Koebner et al., 2001).

Molecular marker technology has generally been restricted to use with specific traits that would otherwise be difficult to tag, such as particular pathogen diseases and quality characters (Mohan *et al.*, 1997). Another approach to tagging has been to conduct selection in early generations (Ribaut and Hoisington, 1998). Evidently, selection could be made more efficient if additional efforts were made to develop tightly linked DNA markers to several traits for the subsequent development of elite lines from large populations. In the case of disease resistance genes, selection can be made without subjecting plants to the pathogen and several desirable traits could be controlled simultaneously. In a polyploid species such as wheat it is possible that effective genes in other genomes epistatically mask the effect of recessive genes. Masking effects may therefore be held in order by means of markers and gene pyramiding of such genes has been a successful way to increase the durability of resistance against severe diseases in the crop (Yoshimura *et al.*, 1995; Ogbannaya *et al.*, 1998; Hittalmani *et al.*, 2000).

The conversion of RFLP probes into STS markers in a diploid species such as barley is a straightforward process, involving two major steps: the sequencing of the RFLP probe and the design of convenient primer pairs for the PCR reaction (Blake et al., 1996). In wheat, however, we have to consider the hexaploid nature of this species and conduct the same process simultaneously for the homoeoloci in the wheat A, B and D genomes. The aim of our study was to perform STS assays for the translocation T2BS.2RL. In order to do this, we had to consider the rye genome, something which could of course not be accomplished without discriminating between the products derived from these homoeoalleles. We applied a method based on single-stranded conformation polymorphism (SSCP), a sensitive technique that exploits the conformational mobility of singlestranded DNA separated on polyacrylamide gels under nondenaturing conditions and allows for the detection of singlenucleotide polymorphism (SNP). This is a high-resolution and userfriendly technique, which only requires basic equipment available in small laboratories. SSCP is known to be most effective for DNA with high GC contents and smaller DNA fragments give higher sensitivity. In our design of primer pairs, derived from the sequence of the RFLP probe, we used different combinations in the range between 200-300 bp and obtained stringent results. These primers amplified all the homoealleles at the specific RFLP locus that were present in the templates we used. The gel matrix differentiates the templates depending on the secondary structure of the DNA. Selected ditelosomic and nullisomic lines were applied in the separate lanes and thus used to reveal the origin of the homoealleles. Specific bands were excised directly from the gel and used for sequencing. We could hence identify sequences that were used for the design of chromosome-specific primer pairs. The results were validated with a set of F₃ families of mildew-resistant and susceptible genotypes (derived from a cross between T2BS.2RL and a susceptible bread wheat), which were correlated with RFLP profiles and mildew resistance and showed the presence and absence of 2RL and 2BL, respectively. The mildew resistance was confirmed to correlate with 2RL. Further examinations were made using an array of substitution lines and one 2RL allele-specific primer combination could be identified. In the future, it would be fruitful to examine whether RFLP-derived STS markers can be more polymorphic than the RFLP probes themselves. A broader screen of a set of rye and wheat cvs. could in fact reveal whether our allele-specific STS marker is an indication or an exception of polymorphism between different cvs.

Chromosome-specific markers developed in this study are based on the amplification of one single fragment, something which makes them suitable for stained PCR assays where the DNA double helix is visualised directly in the plate by ethidium bromide (Gu et al., 1995). The development of STS markers designed to select the powdery mildew-resistant wheat-rye translocation 2RL.2BS could therefore be even more accelerated if this method was adopted in MAS. The requirements for MAS in breeding programmes are as follows: (1) a co-segregation between the marker and the trait, (2) efficient technology for high-throughput adapted to screening of large populations of breeding material, (3) marker validation to confirm the overall usefulness in crosses with different genotypes, and (4) a reliable and robust screening technique with reproducibility across different laboratories. In a review by Gupta et al. (1999), a total number of 36 agronomic traits in wheat have so far been recorded and tagged with different molecular marker systems, such as RFLP, RAPD, SCAR, AFLP, SSR and STS. RFLP belongs to the first generation of DNA markers, which is based on a hybridisation between a RFLP probe and digested templates of DNA, while the others are PCR-based. The most eminent application of RFLP has been the construction of linkage maps. The RFLP mapping in wheat has identified more than 1,000 markers. It is thus the most explored and used DNA marker system in this crop. However, RFLP analysis has not been integrated into the application of breeding programmes to any great extent, since it is time-consuming, labour-intensive and has a low level of detected polymorphism between adapted wheat varieties. Bryan et al. (1999) estimated the variation at DNA level to be approximately 1:1000 basepairs among adapted genotypes of wheat. It is hence ineffective when used for intervarietal detection of polymorphism. On the other hand, it has a co-dominant character and can be used to detect homoeologous loci suitable for comparative mapping and to study synteny between closely related species as in the case of the grass family. Gale and Devos (1998) stated, in fact, that if PCR had been discovered five years earlier, we might have been unaware of the conserved gene order among plant species. However, introgressions of alien germplasm into wheat have in general been restricted to the tribe *Triticeae*, something which is comprehensible in the context of synteny with substituting ability from adaptive linkage blocks (Sharma and Gill 1983; Jiang *et al.*, 1994). Due to homoeology and suppressed chromosome pairing, these introgressions are inherited as completely linked blocks. This means that a DNA marker located on the introgressed segment always is linked not only to the trait but also to the entire segment. It can therefore be useful for MAS aimed at transferring the alien segment in breeding programmes (Cenci *et al.*, 1999).

Genetic factors required to express the trait in gene transfers are more likely to be linked in a Robertsonian translocation. By contrast, a GMO approach would have severe problems to overcome, even if progress is foreseen in monocots as well, where biolistics seems to be replaced by the Agrobacterium approach as the method of choice. The T-cassette is normally equipped with a single gene (without genetic factors) in addition to other components necessary for its transfer. Apparently, GMO technology does not have the advantage of linked beneficial gene complexes that can be transferred in translocations. Although the transformation efficiency in cereals has been improved during the past decade, other problems have to be resolved in the development of GMO, such as integration control and expression failures (Cheng et al., 1997; Rasco-Gaunt et al., 2000). In the currently used technology, there is no control of the integration event and the transgene insert is integrated randomly over the genome. At transgene inserts, transgene expression is hampered by structural defects in the T-cassettes and has to be monitored and designed in a more robust fashion. Methylation is another problem shown as an effect in progressive silencing over the generations. It indicates that the entire transgene insert has been "marked" in the act of host surveillance systems.

Our choice of RFLP-loci was governed by the decision that it should be within the linkage block, *i.e.* the chromosome arm 2RL, where no recombination could occur due to the chromosome pairing suppressor gene *Ph1* located on 5B. Normally, the introgressions from other species are seldom accepted and introduced into plant breeding programmes, but no negative effects are expected from the compensating translocation T2RL (Knackstedt *et al.*, 1994). In addition, the introduction of 2RL cultivars offers an opportunity to build up a new gene complex of valuable traits. Desirable and adaptive traits are to be expected in the linkage block (Jiang *et al.*, 1994) and it can be assumed that the translocation 2BS.2RL contains other beneficial traits besides mildew resistance and hence is an attractive approach in the gene transfer of mildew resistance. The effect of a linkage drag can either be beneficial or deleterious to the line, and these effects should not be under-estimated. In the scenario of negative linkages in the 2BS.2RL line, it should be possible to choose a linked RFLP-locus for conversion into STS markers in accordance with our developed method, that is co-segregating with the character in question. Further crosses can then be conducted in order to minimise the size of the introgression and thus avoid unwanted deleterious traits in the linkage block.

Conclusions

Wide hybridisation between triticale and bread wheat has been known since the early 1980s. Earlier studies have shown that winter triticale is preferable to spring triticale. Higher transmission rates of rye chromosomes are expected if bread wheat is used as a pollinator. These procedures were used to develop the pre-breeding material that was screened for mildew resistance in this study. According to our findings, wide hybridisation using methods that promote transfer of alien germplasm into the wheat genome gives a sufficient number of lines with alien introgressions in advanced generations of prebreeding material.

The mildew isolates used in the study were convenient for selection of breeding material in the northern part of Europe and Sweden in particular. However, it would be interesting to investigate if the material contains a broader resistance towards continental mildew races in Europe, as mildew has been adapted to hotter and drier climate with the spread of semi-dwarf cultivars and increased use of nitrogen fertilisers. Further screening of the material with a broader set of mildew isolates has therefore been discussed with Dr Hsam and colleagues in Germany. More complex traits such as yield and drought tolerance may require the identification of QTLs and advanced crossing procedures using the induction of chromosome pairing and marker technology. In our study, it was sufficient to select lines for mildew resistance as presumed carriers of rye chromatin. Our study has shown the preferential selection of lines carrying the rye chromosomes 1R, 2R, 4R and 6R.

Alien introgressions in a plant material must be developed and selected, but also characterised in an appropriate way. Characterisation of introgressions has been made with different methods, such as Cbanding, FISH, GISH, RFLP and PCR markers, where the purpose of the investigations has determined the choice of method. Cytogenetics and preferably C-banding is a well-documented method used to identify chromosomes by their karyotype. The C-banding method combined with a selection of mildew resistance has proven an efficient approach to obtain and characterise wheat lines with incorporated genetic transfers in the form of substitutions and translocations from the rye germplasm. Molecular cytogenetics can be used to detect and describe alien introgressions exclusively and is therefore useful in the characterisation of plant material in plant breeding. However, the method is most useful if the alien species does not belong to the primary gene pool of the species, because of cross-hybridisation of total genomic probes between closely related species. GISH was an efficient and accurate technique to estimate the amount of rye chromatin in a set of triticale-derived wheat-rye substitution/ addition lines. ISH applications showed a sufficient degree of resolution to characterise and localise the breakpoints of a pericentric inversion (1R) contained in two similar wheat-rye substitution lines.

RFLP technology has been successful in characterising alien introgressions in wheat due to the synteny among other species in the grass family, although RFLP is not feasible for the purpose of practical breeding. Considerable efforts have instead been made to develop PCR markers, while non-gel-based approaches are still too expensive to pay dividends for the application breeding programmes. In this perspective it is an attractive approach to convert RFLPs into PCR markers. The conversion of wheat RFLP probes into STS markers has proven a robust and financially feasible method to develop PCR assays and it makes use of already mapped low copy RFLP probes. STS markers could be an alternative to the currently used microsatellites for minor crops such as rye and millet and may also be used to characterise sources of wild relatives stored in gene banks all over the world.

References

- Agrios GN (1997) *Plant pathology*. 4th ed. Academic press, USA. pp 248-254; 295-298
- Anamthawat-Jónsson (1999) Variable genome composition in Triticum x Leymus amphiploids. *Theor Appl Genet* 99:1087-1093
- Bartoš P (1993) Chromosome 1R of rye in wheat breeding. *Plant Breeding Abstracts* 63:1203-1211
- Benada J (1972) *Proc Int Symp Breeding and Productivity of Barley*. Kromeriz 1972, Istanbul, B, II, 553-561
- Bennett FGA (1981) The expression of resistance to powdery mildew infection in winter wheat cultivars. II. Adult plant resistance. *Ann appl Biol* 98: 305-317
- Bennett FGA (1984) Resistance to powdery mildew in wheat: a review of its use in agriculture and breeding programmes. *Plant Pathol* 33:279-300

Berzonsky WA & Francki MG (1999) Biochemical, molecular, and cytogenetic technologies for characterizing 1RS in wheat: A review. *Euphytica* 108:1-19

- Blake TK, Kadyrzhanova D, Shepherd KW, Islam AKMR, Langridge PL, McDonald CL, Erpelding J, Larson S, Blake NK and Talbert LE (1996) STS-PCR markers appropriate for wheat-barley introgression. *Theor Appl Genet* 93:826-832
- Borlaug NE (1983) Contributions of conventional plant breeding to food production. *Science* 219:689-693
- Bos L and Parlevliet JE (1995) Concepts and terminology on plant/pest relationships: Toward consensus in plant pathology and crop protection. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* 33:69-102
- Bothmer RV Seberg O and Jacobsen N (1992) Genetic resources in the Triticeae. *Hereditas* 116: 141-150
- Bowden W M (1959) The taxonomy and nomenclature of the wheats, barleys, and ryes and their wild relatives. *Can J Botany* 37: 657-684
- Brown JKM (2001) Comparative genetics of avirulence and fungicide resistance in the powdery mildew fungi. In: *The powdery mildews: A comprehensive treatise*. Eds. Belanger, R. R., Dik, A. J., Bushnell, W. R. APS Press, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA. In press.
- Bryan GJ, Stephenson P, Collins A, Kirby J, Smith JB and Gale MD (1999) Low levels of DNA sequence variation among adapted genotypes of hexaploid wheat. *Theor Appl Genet* 99:192-198
- Castilho A and Heslop-Harrison JS (1995) Physical mapping of 5S and 18S-25S rDNA and repetitive DNA sequences in *Aegilops umbellulata. Genome* 38:91-96
- Cenei A, D'Ovidio R, Tanzarella OA, Ceoloni C and Porceddu E (1999) Identification of molecular markers linked to *Pm13*, an *Aegilops longissima* gene conferring resistance to powdery mildew in wheat. *Theor Appl Genet* 98:448-454
- Chen Y and Chelkowski J (1999) Genes for resistance to wheat powdery mildew. J Appl Genet 40:317-334
- Chen PD, Qi LL, Zhou B, Zhang SZ and Liu DJ (1995) Development and molecular cytogenetic analysis of wheat - *Haynaldia villosa* 6VS/6AL translocation lines specifying resistance to powdery mildew. *Theor Appl Genet* 91: 1125-1128

- Cheng M, Fry JE, Pang S, Zhou H, Hironaka CM, Dunean DR, Conner TW and Wan Y (1997) Genetic transformation of wheat mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Plant Physiol* 115:971-980
- Clifford BC (1975) Stable resistance to cereal diseases: Problems and progress. *Rep. Welsh Plant Breed Stn 1974*, pp 107-113
- Collinge DB, Gregersen PL and Thordal-Christensen H (2001) The nature and role of defence response genes in cereals. In: *The powdery mildews: A comprehensive treatise*. Eds. Belanger, R. R., Bushnell, W. R. APS Press, St. Paul, Minnesota, USA. In press.
- Cuadrado A, Ceoloni C and Jouve N (1995) Variation in highly repetitive DNA composition of heterochromatin in rye studied by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Genome* 38:1061-1069.
- Cuadrado A and Schwarzacher T (1998) The chromosomal organization of simple sequence repeats in wheat and rye genomes. *Chromosoma* 107:587-594.
- Cuadrado A, Schwarzacher T and Jouve N (2000) Identification of different chromatin classes in wheat using in situ hybridization with simple sequence repeat oligonucleotides. *Theor Appl Genet* 101:711-717
- Devos KM, Atkinson MD, Chinoy CN, Francis HA, Harcourt RL, Koebner RMD, Liu CJ, Masojc P, Xie DX, Gale MD (1993) Chromosomal rearrangements in the ryc genome relative to that of wheat. *Theor Appl Genet* 85:673-680
- Dewey DR (1984) The genomic system of classification as a guide to intergeneric hybridization with the perennial Triticeae. In: Gene Manipulation in Plant Improvement, Proc. 16th Stadler Genetics Symposium. Ed. Gustafson, J. Plenum Press. N. Y., London, pp 209-279
- Driscoll CJ and Anderson LM (1967) Cytogenetic studies of Transec a wheat-rye translocation line. *Can J Genet Cytol* 9: 375-380
- Driscoll CJ & Jensen NF (1965) Release of a wheat-rye translocation stock involving leaf rust and powdery mildew resistances. *Crop Science* 5:279-280
- Endo TR and Gill BS (1984) Somatic karyotype, heterochromatin distribution, and nature of chromosome differentiation in common wheat, *Triticum aestivum* L. em. Thell. *Chromosoma* 89:361-369
- FAO Yearbook (1998) Production Vol 52. FAO Statistics series No. 148. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, p 62, 64, 71
- Feldman M (1978) New evidence on the origin of the B genome of wheat. In: *Proceedings of the Fifth International Wheat Genetics Symposium*. Ed. Ramanujam, S. New Dehli. pp 120-132
- Feldman M, Lupton FGH and Miller TE (1995) Wheats, *Triticum* spp. (Gramin-eae-Triticinae). In: *Evolution of Crop Plants*. Eds. Smartt, J. and Simmonds, N. W. 2nd ed. Longman Scientific & Technical, Singapore. pp 184-192
- Fenn D, Lukow OM, Bushuk W & Depauw RM (1994) Milling and baking quality of 1BL/1RS translocation wheats. I. Effects of genotype and environment. *Cereal Chem* 71:189-195
- Flor IIII (1955) Host-parasite interaction in flax rust its genetics and other implications. *Phytopathol* 45:680-685
- Flor HH (1956) The complementary genic systems in flax and flax rust. *Adv Genet* 8:29-54
- Forsström PO and Merker A (2001) Sources of wheat powdery mildew resistance from wheat-rye and wheat-*Leymus* hybrids. *Hereditas* 134:115-119

- Fricbe B, Hatchett JH, Sears RG and Gill BS (1990) Transfer of Hessian fly resistance from 'Chaupon' rye to hexaploid wheat via a 2BS/2RL wheat-rye chromosome translocation. *Theor Appl Genet* 79:385-389
- Fricbe B, Heun M, Tuleen N, Zeller FJ and Gill BS (1994) Cytogenetically monitored transfer of powdery mildew resistance from rye into wheat. *Crop Science* 34: 621-625
- Friebe B, Jiang J, Raupp WJ, McIntosh RA and Gill BS (1996) Characterization of wheat-alien translocations conferring resistance to diseases and pests: current status. *Euphytica* 91:59-87
- Gale MD and Devos KM (1998) Comparative genetics in the grasses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95:1971-1974
- Gale MD and Sharp PJ (1988) Genetic markers in wheat developments and prospects. In: *Proceedings of the* 7th *International Wheat Genetics Symposium* (eds. Miller and Koebner). Cambridge, England. pp 469-475
- Gardner G (1996) Preserving agricultural resources. In: *State of the world, 1996*. Ed. Starke, L. Norton & Company, New York. pp 78-94
- Gasowski A (1990) Influence of wheat leaf position on leaf rust severity. *Euphytica* 48: 211-214
- Gerlach WL & Bedbrock JR (1979) Cloning and characterization of ribosomal RNA genes from wheat and barley. *Nucl Acids Res* 7:1869-1885
- Gill BS, and Kimber G (1974) The Giemsa C-banded karyotype of rye. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci USA 71:1247-1249
- Gill BS, Friebe B and Endo TR (1991) Standard karyotype and nomenclature system for description of chromosome bands and structural aberrations in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). *Genome* 34:830-839
- Gu WK, Weeden NF, Yu J and Wallace DH (1995) Large-scale, cost-effective screening of PCR products in marker-assisted selection applications. *Theor Appl Genet* 91:465-470
- Gupta PK, Varshney RK, Sharma PC and Ramesh B (1999) Molecular markers and their applications in wheat breeding. *Plant Breeding* 118:369-390
- Gustafson JP, Lukaszewski AJ and Robertson K (1985) Chromosome substitutions and modifications in hexaploid triticale: a re-evaluation. In: *Genetics and breeding of Triticale: proceedings of the 3rd EUCARPIA meeting, of the Cereal section on triticale* (eds. Bernard and Bernard). Clemont-Ferrand, France. pp 15-27
- Hanušová R, Hsam SLK, Bartoš P & Zeller FJ (1996) Suppression of powdery mildew resistance gene *Pm8* in *Triticum aestivum* L. (common wheat) cultivars carrying wheat-rye translocation T1BL•1RS. *Heredity* 77:383-387
- Harlan JR and de Wet JMJ (1971) Towards a rational classification of cultivated plants. *Taxon* 20: 509-517
- Harlan JR. de Wet JMJ and Price EG (1973) Comparative evolution of cereals. *Evolution*. 27:311-325
- Heun M and Fischbeck G (1987a) Identification of wheat powdery mildew resistance genes by analysing host-pathogen interactions. *Plant Breeding* 98:124-129
- Heun M and Fischbeck G (1987b) Genes for powdery mildew resistance in cultivars of spring wheat. *Plant Breeding* 99:282-288
- Heun M, and Friebe B (1990) Introgression of powdery mildew resistance from rye into wheat. *Phytopathology* 80: 242-245

- Heun M, Friebe B and Bushuk W (1990) Chromosomal location of the powdery mildew resistance gene of Amigo wheat. *Phytopathology* 80: 1129-1133
- Hittalmani S, Parco A, Mew TV, Zeigler RS and Huang N (2000) Fine mapping and DNA marker-assisted pyramiding of the three major genes for blast resistance in rice. *Theor Appl Genet* 100:1121-1128
- Hovmøller M (1989) Race specific powdery mildew resistance in 31 northwest European wheat cultivars. *Plant Breeding* 103:228-234
- Hsam SLK and Zeller FJ (1997) Evidence of allelism between Pm8 and Pm17 and chromosomal location of powdery mildew and leaf rust resistance genes in the common wheat cultivar 'Amigo'. *Plant Breeding* 116:119-122
- Huang XQ, Hsam SLK and Zeller FJ (1997a) Identification of powdery mildew resistance genes in common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. Em Thell.). IX. Cultivars, landraces and breeding lines grown in China. *Plant Breeding* 116:233-238
- Huang XQ, Hsam SLK and Zeller FJ (1997b) Chromosomal location of genes for resistance to powdery mildew in common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. em. Thell.) 4. Gene *Pm 24* in Chinese landrace Chiyacao. *Theor Appl Genet* 95:950-953
- Islam-Faridi MN and Mujeeb-Kazi A (1995) Visualization of *Secale cereale* DNA in wheat germplasm by fluorescent in situ hybridization. *Theor Appl Genet* 90:595-600
- Jenkyn JF and Bainbridge A (1978) Biology and pathology of cereal powdery mildews. In: *The powdery mildews*. Ed. Spencer, D. M. Academic press, London, pp 283-321
- Jiang J and Gill BS (1994) Nonisotopic in situ hybridization and plant genome mapping: the first 10 years. *Genome* 37:717-725
- Jiang J, Friebe B and Gill BS (1994) Recent advances in alien gene transfer in wheat. *Euphytica* 73:199-212
- Johnson R (1978) Practical breeding for durable resistance to rust diseases in selfpollinating cereals. *Euphytica* 27:529-540
- Johnson R (1984) A critical analysis of durable resistance. *Ann Rev Phytopathol* 22:309-330
- Johnson R (1992) Past, present and future opportunities in breeding for disease resistance, with examples from wheat. *Euphytica* 63:3-22
- Keller M, Keller B, Schachermayr G, Winzeler M, Schmid JE, Stamp P and Messmer MM (1999) Quantitative trait loci for resistance against powdery mildew in a segregating wheat x spelt population. *Theor Appl Genet* 98:903-912
- Knackstedt MA, Sears RG, Rogers DE and Lookhart GL (1994) Effects of T2BS.2RL wheat-rye translocation on breadmaking quality in wheat. *Crop Sci* 34:1066-1070
- Knott DR (1989) The effect of transfers of alien genes for leaf rust resistance on the agronomic and quality characteristics of wheat. *Euphytica* 44:65-72
- Koebner RMD and Shephard KW (1988) Isolation and agronomic assessment of allosyndetic recombinants derived from wheat/rye translocation 1DL.1RS, carrying reduced amounts of rye chromatin. In: *Proceedings of the* 7th *International Wheat Genetics Symposium* (eds. Miller and Koebner). Cambridge, England. pp 343-348
- Koebner RMD, Powell W and Donini P (2001) The contribution of current and forthcoming DNA molecular marker technologies to wheat and barley genetics and breeding. *Plant Breeding Rev* 21:181-220

- Koltin Y and Kenneth R (1970) The role of the sexual stage in the oversummering of *Erysiphe graminis* DC. f.sp. *hordei* Marchal under semi-arid conditions. *Ann appl Biol* 65:263-268
- Lapitan NLV, Scars RG and Gill BS (1984) Translocations and other karyotypic structural changes in wheat x rye hybrids regenerated from tissue culture. *Theor Appl Genet* 68:547-554
- Lavania UC (1998) Fluorescence *in situ* hybridization in genome, chromosome and gene identification in plants. *Current Sci* 74:126-133
- Leath S and Heun M (1990) Identification of powdery mildew resistance genes in cultivars of soft red winter wheat. *Plant Disease* 74:747-752
- Lee JH, Graybosch RA and Peterson CJ (1995) Quality and biochemical effects of a 1BL/1RS wheat-rye translocation in wheat. *Theor Appl Genet* 90:105-112
- Leijerstam B (1972) Studies in powdery mildew on wheat in Sweden. III. Variability of virulence in *Erysiphe graminis* f. sp. *tritici* due to gene recombination and mutation. *Växtskyddsanst. Medd.* 15:231-248
- Leitch IJ, Leitch AR and Heslop-Harrison JS (1991) Physical mapping of plant DNA sequences by simultaneous *in situ* hybridization of two differently labelled fluorescent probes. *Genome* 34:329-333
- Lerner IM (1954) Genetic homeostasis. John Wiley & Sons, New York. 134 pp.
- Limpert E (1987) Barley mildew in Europe: Evidence of wind-dispersal of the pathogen and its implications for improved use of host resistance and of fungicides for mildew control. In: *Integrated control of cereal mildews: Monitoring the pathogen.* Eds. Wolfe, M. S. and Limpert, E. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands. pp 31-33
- Lind V (1982) Analysis of the resistance of wheat-rye addition lines to powdery mildew of wheat (*Erysiphe graminis* f. sp. *tritici*). *Tagungsber Akad Landwirtsch Wiss DDR* 198:509-520
- Lukaszewski AJ (1982) Transmission of chromosomes through the eggs and pollen of triticale x wheat F₁ hybrids. *Theor Appl Genet* 63:49-55
- Lukaszewski AJ and Apolinarska B (1981) The chromosome constitution of hexaploid winter triticale. *Can J Genet Cytol* 23:281-285
- Lutz J, Limpert E, Bartoš P and Zeller FJ (1992) Identification of powdery mildew resistance genes in common wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). I. Czechoslovakian cultivars. *Plant Breeding* 108:33-39
- Löve Á (1982) Generic evolution of the wheatgrasses. Biol zentralbl 101: 199-212
- Mac Key J (1966) Species relationship in *Triticum*. In: *Proceedings of the Second International Wheat Genetics Symposium. Hereditas*. Supplementary Volume 2. pp 237-276
- Mac Key J (1980) Resistensförädling mot parasiter. *Agri Hortique Genetica* 38: 22-62
- Martin DJ and Stewart BG (1986) Dough mixing properties of a wheat-rye derived cultivar. *Euphytica* 35:225-232
- McIntosh RA (1978) Breeding for resistance to powdery mildew in the temperate cereals. In: *The powdery mildews*. Ed. Spencer, D. M. Academic press, London. pp 237-257
- McIntosh RA, Hart GE, Devos KM and Gale MD (1995a) Wheat Informaton Service 81: 41

- McIntosh RA, Fricbe B, Jiang J, The D and Gill BS (1995b) Cytogenetic studies in wheat XVI. Chromosome location of a new gene for resistance in Japanese wheat-rye translocation line. *Euphytica* 82:141-147
- Merker A (1984) The ryc genome in wheat breeding. Hereditas 100:183-191
- Merker A & Forsström PO (2000) Isolation of mildew-resistant wheat-rye translocation lines from a double substitution line. *Euphytica* 115:167-172
- Merker A and Rogalska S (1984) The breeding behaviour of a double disomic wheat-rye substitution line. *Cereal Res Comm* 12:13-17
- McIntyre CL, Pereira S, Moran LB and Appels R (1990) New Secale cereale (rye) DNA derivatives for the detection of rye chromosome segments in wheat. *Genome* 33:635-640
- Michelmore RW, Paran I and Kesseli RV (1991) Identification of markers linked to disease-resistance genes by bulked segregant analysis: A rapid method to detect markers in specific genomic regions by using segregating populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88:9828-9832
- Miller TE (1987) Systematics and evolution. In: *Wheat breeding: its scientific basis.* Ed. Lupton, F. G. H. University Press, Cambridge. pp 1-30
- Mohan M, Nair S, Bhagwat A, Krishna TG, Yano M, Bhatia CR and Sasaki T (1997) Genome mapping, molecular markers and marker-assisted selection in crop plants. *Mol Breeding* 3:87-103
- Moreno-Sevilla B, Baenziger PS, Peterson CJ, Graybosch RA and McVey DV (1995a) The 1BL/1RS translocation: Agronomic performance of F₃ derived lines from a winter wheat cross. *Crop Sci* 35:1051-1055
- Moreno-Sevilla B, Baenziger PS, Shelton DR, Graybosch RA and Peterson CJ (1995b) Agronomic performance and end-use quality of 1B vs.1BL/1RS genotypes derived from winter wheat 'Rawhide'. *Crop Sci* 35:1607-1612
- Morris R and Sears ER (1967) The cytogenetics of wheat and its relatives. In: *Wheat and wheat improvement*. Eds. Quisenberry, K. S. and Reitz, L. P. Madison, USA, pp 19-87
- Mukai Y (1996) Multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization: a new tool for genome analysis. In: *Methods of genome analysis in plants* (ed. Jauhar). CRC Press, Boca Raton. pp 181-192
- Mukai Y and Yamamoto M (1998) Application of multicolor fluorescence in situ hybridization to plant genome analysis. In: *Genetics and Biotechnology in Crop Improvement* (eds. Gupta et al.). Rastogi Publications Meerut, India. pp 14-23
- Mukai Y, Endo TR & Gill BS (1991) Physical mapping of the 18S.26S rRNA multigene family in common wheat: Identification of a new locus. *Chromosoma* 100:71-78
- Mukai Y, Nakahara Y and Yamamota M (1993) Simultaneous discrimination of the three genomes in hexaploid wheat by multicolor fluorescence *in situ* hybridization using total genomic and highly repeated DNA probes. *Genome* 36:489-494
- Murata M, Nakata N and Yasumuro Y (1992) Origin and molecular structure of a midget chromosome in a common wheat carrying rye cytoplasm. *Chromosoma* 102:27-31
- Nelson RR (1978) Genetics of horizontal resistance to plant diseases. *Ann Rev Phytopathol* 16:359-378

- Nelson RR, MacKenzie DR and Scheifele GL (1970) Interaction of genes for pathogenicity and virulence in *Trichometasphaeria turcica* with different numbers of genes for vertical resistance in *Zea mays*. *Phytopathology* 60:1250-1254
- Niks RE, Ellis PR and Parlevliet JE (1993) Resistance to parasites. In: *Plant Breeding: Principles and prospects.* Eds. Hayward, M. D., Bosemark, N. O. and Romagosa, I. Chapman & Hall, London. pp 422-447
- Ogbannaya FC, Moullet O, Eastwood FR, Kollmorgen J, Eagles H, Appels R and Lagudah ES (1998) The use of molecular markers to pyramid cereal cyst nematode resistance genes in wheat. In: *Proceedings of the 9th International Wheat Genetics Symposium* (ed. Slinkard). Vol 3, Saskatoon, Canada. pp 138-139
- Parlevliet JE and Zadoks JC (1977) The integrated concept of disease resistance; a new view including horizontal and vertical resistance in plants. *Euphytica* 26:5-21
- Parlevliet JE (1978) Aspects of and problems with horizontal resistance. *Crop Improv* 5:1-10
- Parlevliet JE (1979) Components of resistance that reduce the rate of epidemic development. *Ann Rev Phytopathol* 17:203-222
- Parlevliet JE (1981) Disease resistance in plants and its consequences for breeding. In: Plant Breeding II. (Ed.) Frey, K. J. Iowa State University, Ames, pp 309-364
- Pedersen C and Langridge P (1997) Identification of the entire chromosome complement of bread wheat by two-colour FISH. *Genome* 40:589-593
- Plaha P and Sethi GS (1993) Adaptive advantage to 6R chromosome of rye in the genomic background of bread wheat. *Cereal Research Communications* 21:239-245
- Qi X, Bakht S, Devos KM, Gale MD and Osbourn A (2001) L-RCA (ligationrolling circle amplification): a general method for genotyping of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). *Nucl Acids Res* 29:116e
- Rabinovich SV (1998) Importance of wheat-rye translocations for breeding modern cultivars of Triticum aestivum L. *Euphytica* 100:323-340
- Rajaram S, Mann CE, Ortiz-Ferrara G and Mujeeb-Kazi A (1983) Adaptation, stability and high yield potential of certain 1B/1R CIMMYT wheats. In: *Proc 6th Intern Wheat Genet Symp* (ed. Sakamoto). Plant Germplasm Inst., Kyoto Univ., Kyoto, Japan. pp 613-621
- Rasco-Gaunt S, Thorpe C, Lazzeri PA and Barcelo P (2000) Advances in cereal transformation technologies. In: *Transgenic cereals* (eds. O'Brien and Henry). American Accociation of Cereal Chemists, Minnesota, USA. pp 178-251
- Rayburn AL and Gill BS (1987) Isolation of a D-genome specific repeated DNA sequence from *Aegilops tauschii*. *Plant Mol Biol Rep* 4:102-109
- Ribaut JM and Hoisington D (1998) Marker-assisted selection: new tools and strategies. *Trends in plant science* 3:236-239
- Riley R, Chapman V and Johnson R (1968) The incorporation of alien disease resistance in wheat by genetic interference with the regulation of meiotic chromosome synapsis. *Genet Res* 12:199-219
- Sadowski J & Daussant J (1988) Application of immunoblotting for chromosomal localization of non-enzymatic protein structural genes: alpha-amylase inhibitor gene of rye. *Genet Polon* 29:281-285
- Salmeron JM, Oldroyd GED, Rommens CMT, Scofield SR, Kim HS, Lavelle DT, Dahlbeck D and Staskawicz BJ (1996) Tomato *Prf* is a member of the leucine-

rich repeat class of plant disease resistance genes and lies embedded within the Pto kinase gene cluster. *Cell* 86:123-133

- Schlegel R and Meinel A (1994) A quantitative trait locus (QTL) on chromosome arm 1RS of ryc and its effect on yield performance of hexaploid wheat. *Cereal Res Commun* 22:7-13
- Schlegel R, Melz G & Korzun V (1998) Genes, marker and linkage data of rye (*Secale cereale* L.): 5th updated inventory. *Euphytica* 101:23-67
- Schubert I, Fuchs J, Pich U, Kunzel G and Korzun L (1998) Physical mapping of DNA sequences on plant chromosomes. In: *Genetics and Biotechnology in Crop Improvement* (eds. Gupta et al.). Rastogi Publications Meerut, India. pp 1-13
- Schwarzacher T, Leitch AR, Bennett MD and Heslop-Harrison JS (1989) *In situ* localization of parental genomes in a wide hybrid. *Ann Bot* 64:315-324
- Schwarzacher T, Anamthawat-Jónsson K, Harrison GE, Islam AKMR, Jia JZ, King IP, Leitch, AR, Miller TE, Reader SM, Rogers WJ, Shi M and Heslop-Harrison JS (1992) Genomic in situ hybridization to identify alien chromosomes and chromosome segments in wheat. *Theor Appl Genet* 84:778-786
- Sears ER (1952) Misdivision of univalents in common wheat. *Chromosoma* 4:535-550
- Sears ER (1956) The transfer of leaf rust resistance from *Aegilops umbellulata* to wheat. *Brookhaven Symp Biol* 9:1-22
- Sears ER (1977) Analysis of wheat-Agropyron recombinant chromosomes. In: *Proc* 8th *Eucarpia Congress*. Madrid, Spain. pp.63-72
- Sears ER (1983) The transfer to wheat of interstitial segments of alien chromosomes. In: *Proceedings of the 6th International Wheat Genetics Symposium* (ed. Sakamoto). Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan. pp 5-12
- Sears ER (1993) Use of radiation to transfer alien chromosome segments to wheat. *Crop Sci* 33:897-901
- Shaner G, Stromberg EL, Lacy GH, Barker KR and Pirone TP (1992) Nomenclature and concepts of pathogenicity and virulence. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* 30:47-66
- Sharma HC and Gill BS (1983) Current status of wide hybridization in wheat. *Euphytica* 32:17-31
- Song WY, Wang GL, Chen LL, Kim HS, Pi LY, Holsten T, Gardner J, Wang B, Zhai WX, Zhu LH, Fauquet C and Ronald P (1995) A receptor kinase-like protein encoded by the rice disease resistance gene, *Xa21. Science* 270:1804-1806
- Sybenga J (1983) Rye chromosome nomenclature and homology relationships. *Z Pflanzenzüchtg* 90:297-304
- Taketa S, Nakazaki T, Schwarzacher T & Heslop-Harrison JS (1997) Detection of a 4DL chromosome segment translocated to rye chromosome 5R in an advanced hexaploid triticale line Bronco 90. *Euphytica* 97:91-96
- Thoday JM (1961) Location of polygenes. Nature 191:368-370
- Van der Plank JE (1963) Plant Diseases: Epidemics and control. Academic Press, New York and London. 349 pp.
- Van der Plank JE (1968) Disease resistance in plants. Academic Press, New York and London. 206 pp.
- Van der Plank JE (1975) *Principles of plant infection*. Academic Press, New York, San Francisco, London. 216 pp.

- Vershinin A, Svitashev S, Gummeson PO, Salomon B, Bothmer RV and Bryngelsson T (1994) Characterization of a family of tandemly repeated DNA sequences in Triticeae. *Theor Appl Genet* 89:217-225
- Villarcal RL, Banuclos A, Mujecb-Kazi A & Rajaram S (1998) Agronomic performance of chromosomes 1B and T1BL.1RS near-isolines in the spring bread wheat Seri M82. *Euphytica* 103:195-202
- Vos P, Hogers R, Bleeker M, Reijans M, Lee T van de, Hornes M, Frijters A, Pot J, Peleman J, Kuiper M, and Zabeau M (1995) AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. *Nucl Acids Res* 23:4407-4414
- Wang E, Xing H, Wen Y, Zhou W, Wei R & Han H (1998) Molecular and biochemical characterization of a non-Robertsonian wheat-rye chromosome translocation line. *Crop Sci* 38:1076-1080
- Wernersson L (2001) *Analysis of wheat lines with the rye translocation 2BS/2RL*. MSc Thesis. ISBN: 91-576-6118-9
- Wolfe MS & Barrett JA (1980) Can we lead the pathogen astray? *Plant Dis* 64:148-155
- Yoshimura S, Yoshimura A, Iwata N, McCouch S, Abenes ML, Baraoidan MR, Mew T and Nelson RJ (1995) Tagging and combining bacterial blight resistance genes in rice using RAPD and RFLP markers. *Mol Breed* 1375-387
- Zeller, F. J. (1973) 1B/1R wheat-ryc chromosome substitutions and translocations. In: *Proceedings of the 4th International Wheat Genetics Symposium* (eds. Sears and Sears). University of Missouri, USA, pp 209-221
- Zeller FJ and Hsam SLK (1983) Broadening the genetic variability of cultivated wheat by utilizing rye chromatin. In: *Proceedings of the 6th International Wheat Genetics Symposium* (ed. Sakamoto). Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan. pp 161-173
- Zohary D and Feldman M (1962) Hybridization between amphidiploids and the evolution of polyploids in the wheat (*Aegilops-Triticum*) group. *Evolution* 16:44-61
- Zohary D and Hopf M (2000) *Domestication of Plants in the Old World*. 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 16-91

Acknowledgements

A doctoral thesis is not achieved without collaboration between researchers and support from family and friends. I wish to express my gratitude to everyone I have met and worked with during this study.

First of all, I want to thank my supervisor Arnulf Merker for the opportunity to partake in the PhD programme and for our fruitful discussions on topics such as plant breeding and cytogenetics.

A special thanks to everyone who has contributed to my work: Susanne Hjerdin, Raili Fritsch and Åsa Blixt for their help and company in the greenhouse.

Lars Wiik, Roy Johnson and Borislav Kobiljski for helpful comments on the manuscript of my first paper.

Eva Johansson for the possibility to work in your protein laboratory and benefit from your competence in the analysis of SDS-PAGE and APAGE.

Maria Luisa Prieto-Linde for her help in the protein laboratory and assistance with plant material care in the greenhouse.

Göran Olsson for your support with the computer network and plant material care in the greenhouse.

Pernilla Ellneskog-Staam and Agnese Kolodinska, my roommates at the Department of Crop Science at Alnarp, for all your support.

Ahmed Jahoor for inviting me to his laboratory and offering the use of equipment for analysis of detached leaf segments at Risø in Denmark.

Trude Schwarzacher for teaching me the methods of molecular cytogenetics at the Department of Crop Genetics at John Innes Centre, for our fruitful co-authorship and friendship and for the review of my thesis.

Robert Koebner for inviting me to the Department of Crop Genetics at John Innes Centre and our fruitful collaboration and co-authorship in the development of PCR markers, where your competence in wheat genetics saved my work from the numerous pitfalls where I lost myself. I'm also deeply thankful for all contact we have had via e-mail during these years – it has been of great importance to me in

my work. In addition, thank you for reviewing my thesis. Nic Gosman, Simon Griffiths and Adrien Turner for their friendship

during my visits at John Innes Centre in Norwich, England.

Gretchen Mason, the most wonderful landlady anyone can wish for during my visits in Norwich. Lars Wiik, Jens Weibull and Erland Liljeroth for reviewing my thesis.

Finally, I wish to thank my family Lotta, Torbjörn and Tove for showing patience when I have spent most of my time at the computer at home during parts of this study.

This work was financially supported by the Swedish Council for Forestry and Agricultural Research (SJFR). Travel grants were received from the Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture and Forestry, the Swedish Seed Association, the Faculty of Agriculture, Landscape Planning and Horticulture of the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, and the Royal Physiographic Society, Lund.